# **Social Environment and Epigenetics**



Sarah M. Merrill, Nicole Gladish, and Michael S. Kobor

#### Contents

1	Introduction	84
2	Epigenetic Modifications	85
3	Epigenetics and Learning	88
4	Interpersonal Environments	94
	4.1 Parenting and Enriched Environments	94
	4.2 Pain, Stress, and Trauma	98
5	Societal Environments	103
	5.1 Minority Status and Socioeconomic Status	103
	5.2 Social Effects on Physical Environment	105
6	Conclusion	106
Re	ferences	107

**Abstract** Our social environment, from the microscopic to the macro-social, affects us for the entirety of our lives. One integral line of research to examine how interpersonal and societal environments can get "under the skin" is through the lens of epigenetics. Epigenetic mechanisms are adaptations made to our genome in response to our environment which include tags placed on and removed from the DNA itself to how our DNA is packaged, affecting how our genes are read, transcribed, and interact. These tags are affected by social environments and can persist over time; this may aid us in responding to experiences and exposures, both the enriched and the disadvantageous. From memory formation to immune function,

S. M. Merrill and N. Gladish

Department of Medical Genetics, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

M. S. Kobor (⊠) Centre for Molecular Medicine and Therapeutics, British Columbia Children's Hospital, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Department of Medical Genetics, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada

Human Early Learning Partnership, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada e-mail: msk@bcchr.ca

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019 Curr Topics Behav Neurosci (2019) 42: 83–126 DOI 10.1007/7854\_2019\_114 Published Online: 5 September 2019

Centre for Molecular Medicine and Therapeutics, British Columbia Children's Hospital, Vancouver, BC, Canada

the experience-dependent plasticity of epigenetic modifications to micro- and macrosocial environments may contribute to the process of learning from comfort, pain, and stress to better survive in whatever circumstances life has in store.

**Keywords** Adversity · Built environment · DNA methylation · Enriched environment · Epigenetics · Histone modifications · Interpersonal · Learning · Pain · Parenting · Social environment · Stress

### 1 Introduction

To be human is to have a fundamental need for love and belonging. Humans give birth to altricial young who depend on the effectiveness and attentiveness of social bonds from the moment of delivery, not only to thrive, but also to survive. Though this is a unique trait among mammals, it also means humans are exposed to their social environment much earlier in development than most offspring in the animal kingdom. Children's social relationships are arguably the most fundamental component of the early postnatal environment and facilitate both the beneficial and harmful effects of ecological factors. Even meeting necessary nutritional needs through breastfeeding is a social bonding experience with close proximity, ventroventral contact, body warmth, and soft touch. As the preeminent developmental psychologist Urie Bronfenbrenner stated: "No society can long sustain itself unless its members have learned the sensitivities, motivations, and skills involved in assisting and caring for other human beings" (Bronfenbrenner 2009).

All children develop within a dynamic social context of both interpersonal relationships and wider social structures, which can shape their cognitive, emotional, and biological processes for the remainder of their lives (Casper 2001). From the first moments with parents to city planning to feeling accepted by the community, the multifaceted nature of the social environment provides ample opportunity for both advantages and hindrances to be embedded "under the skin" (Boyce and Kobor 2015).

Though the debate between solitary contributions of nature and nurture is an academic artifact, there are a variety of overlapping conceptualizations of this embedding process. For example, the concept of vulnerability and resilience, or resistance, is commonly used in psychology and psychiatry (Ingram and Luxton 2005; Luthar 2003), as well as in engineering and ecology (Miller et al. 2010; Proag 2014). These terms have similar meanings even in these disparate fields with vulnerability referring to the underlying potential of an adverse reaction to a negative event, and resilience referring to the innate ability to withstand and recover from a negative event. This is the same principle as an individual genetic predisposition for a particular outcome, either beneficial or detrimental. Similarly, the psychological diathesis-stress model, or dual-risk model, presumes a predisposition that affects the likelihood of developing, or the trajectory of, a disorder (Ingram and Luxton 2005). This diathesis may be genetic, biological, environmental, or psychological and

interacts with some form of biological or environmental stress to alleviate or exacerbate the effect. This also resembles the threshold model of neurobiological reactivity (Moore and Depue 2016). This model proposes that there is a biological constraint on the potency of external stimuli necessary to elicit an emotional response. This model presupposes that there is a predisposition to be stressed by an environment in the first place, in addition to the possibility that the subsequently elicited stress response may exacerbate yet another outcome. This cascade of interactions between innate differences and environmental exposures is addressed in the developmental origins of health and disease (DoHaD) hypothesis (Mandy and Nyirenda 2018; Suzuki 2018). This hypothesis refers to the potential biological programming from environmental exposures that may cause some of the intrinsic predispositions on which later environments may act (Wadhwa et al. 2009).

The most general and often used term for these relationships is gene-by-environment interactions. Ultimately, the distillation of these models equates to a basic understanding that the scaffolding of experience can be secured upon existing biological foundations. With poor foundations or inferior craftsmanship, the overall integrity of the structure may fail. One important aspect of how these pieces come together to build the human experience is through epigenetics (Meaney 2010).

#### 2 Epigenetic Modifications

Epigenetics refers to the varied modifications to the underlying, permanent deoxyribose nucleic acid (DNA) sequence, which subsequently alter gene expression and, ultimately, phenotypes such as health and behaviors. The fundamental purpose of these epigenetic alterations is to achieve a diverse landscape of expression from a single DNA source (Boyce and Kobor 2015). These changes are likely involved in the biological embedding of environmental influence because of both their dynamic nature and sensitivity to experiential feedback. The field of epigenetics is a natural accretion of biological reductionism as it provides evidence that while we may be a product of our biology, our biology is partially a product of our environment.

The most common forms of epigenetic investigations in humans are correlational studies on DNA methylation (mC) and DNA hydroxymethylation (hmC), as discussed elsewhere in this volume. Due to its critical role in cell type differentiation, mC is highly affected by cell type differences and, thus, tissue types, as well as age, ethnicity, genotype, sex, and disease state (Edgar et al. 2017; Hannon et al. 2015; Husquin et al. 2018; Islam et al. 2019; Lienert et al. 2011; Turinsky et al. 2019; Wagner et al. 2015; Yousefi et al. 2015; Ziller et al. 2013). Three of these factors are especially important to highlight: genotype, tissue, and age. When considering genotype, de novo modifications may be affected by the underlying DNA sequence due to potential sites of interaction, a downstream consequence of other modifications, or the result of adaptation to environmental influences that can be passed on through cell mitosis to have long-lasting effects (Bock et al. 2006; Probst et al. 2009; Song et al. 2017). When considering tissue, the two most important aspects are

differences in cell type and cell type proportions among the different tissues and the comparisons that can be made among and between different tissue types. Specifically, it is difficult to make inferences about epigenetic modifications in brain tissue when measuring more peripheral tissues such as blood or saliva; however, there are resources correlating some measures in these tissues that can assist in forming educated inferences (Braun et al. 2019; Edgar et al. 2017).

Finally, when considering age, both its potential as a confounder and variable of interest should be acknowledged. Patterns of epigenetic modifications change with age, including mC (Gopalan et al. 2017; Jones et al. 2015; Koch and Wanger 2011; McEwen et al. 2016, 2017; Sen et al. 2016). Therefore, it is crucial that age be accounted for, selected for, or counterbalanced across groups in the variable of interest. A subsequent benefit of these clear and replicable differences in ages, however, is the ability to predict age using DNA methylation "clocks" that can be both tissue specific and pan-tissue (Horvath et al. 2016; Horvath and Raj 2018; Liu et al. 2019; Marioni et al. 2015; Wagner 2017). By calculating age using DNA methylation, it is also possible to determine the acceleration or deceleration of a person's epigenetic age from their chronological age (i.e., epigenetic age acceleration), this suggests increased cellular aging and is associated with increases in morbidity and mortality (Fransquet et al. 2019; Horvath et al. 2015; McEwen et al. 2016).

While the field is acutely aware of the importance of accounting for these potential confounders, many early foundational studies in social epigenetics did not account for these differences and are primarily correlational, observational designs. Additionally, due to the difficulty, cost, and technological limitations in conducting epigenome-wide association studies (EWAS), much of the initial work focused on a candidate gene approach. The previous literature on mC in candidate genes should not be disregarded; however, new appreciation of the interconnectedness among mC indicates the benefit of EWAS due to accounting for differences among many correlated sites or regions simultaneously (Moore 2017). While there is crucial work to be done in understanding how social environments affect the underlying biology of developmental sequelae, a healthy dose of skepticism and a critical eye must be maintained both when evaluating past and current literature, as well as developing new experimental designs (Jones et al. 2018). There are also other possible DNA modifications that can affect gene expression that have been significantly less studied than mC. Although not much is known about their relationships with early social environments, additional cytosine modifications formylation and carboxylation, as well as the much rarer methylation at adenine sites on DNA, are ripe for future investigation (Wu et al. 2016b; Yao et al. 2017). Besides modifications directly onto DNA base pairs, there are other ways to affect the complex relationship between DNA structure and protein synthesis.

One such way is to affect the packing of DNA through modifications to chromatin, the condensed DNA-protein package that allows a structure as large as DNA to reside within the nucleus of a cell. Within the chromatin package are an octamer of proteins called histones. This package contains two each of four types of histones: H2A, H2B, H3, and H4, the tails of which have at least 14 possible modifications known to date (Bártová et al. 2008; Huang et al. 2014; Kouzarides 2007). By modifying chromatin structure, the accessibility of the DNA for gene transcription is significantly affected. This is a metric referred to as chromatin accessibility (Buenrostro et al. 2015, 2016; John et al. 2011). One modification that usually increases chromatin accessibility, thus increasing the ability of transcription factors to bind to the DNA, is histone acetylation (Görisch et al. 2005). This is when acetyl groups are deposited on lysines by histone acetyltransferaces (HAT). Alternatively, these groups that typically act to release compacted DNA to facilitate transcription initiation can be removed by histone deacetylases (HDAC), thus reducing chromatin accessibility (Chen and Townes 2000; Shahbazian and Grunstein 2007). There is significant evidence of histone acetylation and deacetylation having social behavioral effects in animal studies (Bukhari et al. 2017; Fitzsimons and Scott 2011; Hunter et al. 2012; Malik et al. 2014; Peixoto and Abel 2012; Saul et al. 2017; Shpigler et al. 2017).

Another possible histone modification is phosphorylation, which is often associated with acetylation, and functions primarily in the histone microenvironment by serving as a platform for communication between other histone modifications and downstream effects (Banerjee and Chakravarti 2011). Phosphate groups are customarily deposited by nuclear kinases and removed by protein phosphstases (Brami-Cherrier et al. 2009; Koshibu et al. 2009). Similar to DNA, histones can also be modified to be methylated, which, like DNA, can lead to both increased and decreased chromatin accessibility depending on the modified site (Kouzarides 2007). Methyl groups are deposited on histones by histone methyltransferases (HMT) and removed by histone demethylases (HDM) (Bártová et al. 2008; Zheng et al. 2015). In addition to their interactions with one another, these modifications are affected by the principle DNA structure, histone chaperones, age, and histone protein variants such as the H2A histone variant H2A.Z (Ausió and Abbott 2002; Bryois et al. 2018; Levine et al. 2012; Mcvicker et al. 2013; Stefanelli et al. 2018; Tessarz and Kouzarides 2014).

Once the DNA has been made available to transcription factors through variations of, and modifications to, DNA, chromatin, and histones, there is yet another epigenetic mechanism which takes place on ribonucleic acid (RNA). Messenger RNA (mRNA) acting as an intermediary between the underlying DNA structure and the protein synthesizing ribosomes, just like histones and DNA, can be modified by the addition or subtraction of hydroxymethyl, acetyl, phosphate, and the most frequently studied, methyl adenine (m<sup>6</sup>A) groups (Boccaletto et al. 2017; Meyer and Jaffrey 2014; Saletore et al. 2012). These modifications, sometimes referred to as epitranscriptomics, can affect the structure, binding, transcription, and translational properties of RNA, which in turn has significant implications for downstream protein synthesis (Schwartz 2016). There are also two other families of RNAs that can have significant effects on gene transcription without affecting the underlying DNA sequence: microRNAs (miRNAs) and long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs). Both miRNAs, which act as complimentary sequences to degrade mRNA and lncRNA, which regulate mRNA, generally reduce transcription and are affected by the underlying DNA sequence (Chu et al. 2011; Kim 2005; Kim and Nam 2006; Lee 2012; Mercer et al. 2009; Younger and Corey 2011). The direct relationship of the social environment on miRNAs and lncRNAs is currently unknown.

This diverse wealth of epigenetic mechanisms does not operate in a vacuum but functions together to have a cascade of comprehensive and varied influences. These modifications can be preserved for a lifetime through biological machinery that accurately maintains the epigenetic pattern (Probst et al. 2009), thus providing the opportunity for dynamic early environmental epigenetic adaption to be maintained throughout a lifetime. Therefore, there are many known epigenetic mechanisms that would allow for the possibility of early life social environments to stably modify phenotypes over the life course without altering the genotype. In this chapter, we discuss the scope of varied epigenetic investigations into the biological consequences of both interpersonal and structural social environments. To begin, we focus on the intersection of social behavioral neurogenomics: learning.

## **3** Epigenetics and Learning

The social environment is, fundamentally, an inescapable impetus for development and adaption through learning and memory, both positive and negative. Infants are innately attuned to social cues, even before birth. Infants have a strong preference for eyes, faces, and facial configurations (Dupierrix et al. 2014; Goren et al. 1975; Johnson et al. 1991, 2015; Turati et al. 2002). Even third trimester human fetuses preferentially orient toward a face shape when projected through maternal tissue (Reid et al. 2017). This strong preference can be interpreted as an indication of the importance of early exposure to faces and an early orientation toward social stimuli (Morton and Johnson 1991). In addition to the infant's predilection for faces, young infants develop in an especially face-dense environment, even in comparison to older infants (Jayaraman et al. 2017). As young infants have a low range of mobility, this demonstrates an implicit adult drive to place faces in front of developing infants as well. Infants also use touch to communicate with their caregivers and use a variety of movements depending on their needs and the caregiver's responsiveness (Moszkowski and Stack 2007). Additionally, evidence indicates maternal odors enhance neural signaling of facial categorization, but not general activation, in infant brains (Leleu et al. 2019).

Babies' relationship with the social environment is a multi-sensory process. In addition to sight, smell, and touch, infant's hearing is also highly attuned toward social environments and language development. Adults tend to use infant-directed speech (IDS) when with children, which incorporates a larger range of higher frequencies and has more rising contours than adult-directed speech (ADS). Infants are more attentive to, can discriminate sounds better in, and can be emotionally regulated by IDS as opposed to adult-directed speech (Cooper and Aslin 1990, 1994; Fernald 1992; Trehub et al. 1993). Even mothers of deaf children use exaggerated signs to their infants, who are more attentive to the exaggerated infant-directed

signing (Masataka 1998). An infant's world is full of social stimuli to which they can experience, react, and learn.

This rich social environment is used by infants to both survive, via their caregivers, and begin to build their understanding of the world. Therefore, it logically follows that children's cognitive functional development, both normative and deviant, adapts to the social environment (Dishion 2016). Children show a novelty preference almost immediately and are able to respond to traditional behavioral conditioning paradigms (Hulsebus 1974; Thompson et al. 1991). Infants as young as 6 months can reliably show social learning through deferred imitation (Barr et al. 1996; Meltzoff 1988). Additionally, experiential learning generally is essential for normative development both pre- and postnatally (Bale et al. 2010; Mclaughlin et al. 2014; Perry 2002; Roth and Sweatt 2011a, b; Swain et al. 2007; Talge et al. 2007). Learning from and adapting to the early life environment as effectively as possible is crucial for both juvenile and adult survival. It is both demonstrable and logical that children would be learning from their environments, and it is clear that there is an emphasis on the social environment for those associations.

Some connections, such as those learned or imitated in an interpersonal social context, are more readily learned than others. This is called biological preparedness theory, and the belief is that there is an evolutionary advantage to more quickly making these environmentally and survival-relevant associations (Cummins and Cummins 2015; McNally 2016). It is also much more difficult to extinguish these connections once learned (Åhs et al. 2018). Most work has focused on preparedness role in phobias, anxiety disorders (including social anxiety), and taste aversion (de Silva 1988; Ohman and Mineka 2001). Due to the importance of social bonds to human survival, especially for young children, and the extreme innate infant preference for social stimuli, the assumption of an underlying biological preparedness to learn cues from the social environment is reasonable. Albert Bandura, a distinguished behaviorist, acknowledged the unique aspects of social environments. He adapted the behavioral conditioning theory to include the observational process of learning and noted that there are mediating processes between the experience of a stimuli and subsequent response (Bandura 1977). The cognitive ability of children to learn from, and disproportionate attunement toward, their early social environments indicate that these social factors are primed to make lasting neurological, epigenetic, and behavioral impressions.

In order to leave these lasting impressions, first the associations from the social environment need to be learned. The basis for most models of development, learning, and memory in neuroscience is synaptic plasticity, or the ability of synaptic connections to change their strength (Ehrlich and Malinow 2004). Hebbian theory, or cell assembly theory, posits that two mechanisms of synaptic plasticity are long-term potentiation (LTP) and long-term depression (LTD) (Ehrlich and Malinow 2004; Robert C Malenka and Nicoll 1999; Randic et al. 1993). Electrophysiological action potentials are primarily responsible for, or supportive of, cell-to-cell communication through the synapse in the nervous system through rapid cell depolarization that is passed along to adjacent cells.

LTP is one cellular mechanism through which the strength of a synapse can be amplified, while LTD is a mechanism for weakening a synapse. LTP primarily occurs through the action of presynaptic glutamate at two types of postsynaptic ionotropic glutamatergic receptors, N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors and  $\alpha$ -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid (AMPA) receptors (Malenka and Nicoll 1999). Though glutamate binds to both NMDA and AMPA, NMDA receptors are gated by a magnesium ion block that prevents calcium ions, to which NMDA receptors are permeable, from entering the postsynaptic neuron. However, AMPA receptors do not have a magnesium block and are activated by presynaptic glutamate release, allowing sodium ions to flow through. When enough AMPA receptors have been activated and sodium ions have entered the postsynaptic neuron, the charge, or potential, of the neuron changes, releasing the magnesium ion block from the NMDA receptors. The NMDA receptors then allow calcium ions into the cell, which target calcium/calmodulin-regulated protein kinase II (CaMKII) (Malenka et al. 1989). CaMKII phosphorylates AMPA receptors, increasing their current, a mechanism of early LTP, and initiates protein synthesis through the MAPK (mitogen-activated protein kinase) pathway and CREB/CRE (cAMPresponsive element binding protein/cAMP response element) mechanisms to begin structural changes in and around the synapse (Giese et al. 1998).

Early LTP results in the addition of more AMPA receptors postsynaptically and a retrograde signal of nitric oxide to the presynaptic neuron, while late LTP adds an entirely new synapse between the two neurons (Sandkühler and Gruber-Schoffnegger 2012). BDNF (Brain-derived neurotrophic factor) is crucial in this process, with reduction leading to insufficient drive for synthesis of synaptic proteins, thus contributing to cognitive dysfunction (Wu et al. 2016a). Both adding more AMPA receptors, thus depolarizing and triggering NMDA receptor activation in the postsynaptic neuron, or adding a new synaptic cleft, increases the strength of the connection between the two neurons. This strengthened connection is sensitized to be activated again and the presynaptic cell is poised to interact with the postsynaptic neuron more quickly and strongly than before.

LTD, on the other hand, takes place when there is consistent low frequency activation. With constant low activation, only some, but not all, AMPA receptors are activated, which is not enough to remove the magnesium ion block from the majority of NMDA receptors. In this case, calcineurin (protein phosphatase 2B) is the target, which results in the removal of AMPA receptors by endocytosis (Malenka and Bear 2004). Though LTD is the weakening of synaptic strength, it plays an integral role in memory formation, most likely through preparing potential pathways for new connections. Additionally, spike-timing dependent potentiation (STDP) adds even more specificity to this relationship by altering the strength of LTP and LTD effects depending on the timing of electrical signals (Fiete et al. 2010). The strengthened relationships among neurons happen within milliseconds and can last from 30 min to years. LTP in multiple synapses can create engrams, or biophysical manifestations of memories, stored as cognitive units of interconnected cells (Poo et al. 2016). The maintenance of these engram connections composes long-term memory. How are these changes generated in the first place? How are they maintained over multiple cell turnovers and conceivably for an entire lifetime? One possibility is through epigenetic mechanisms that alter gene transcription to allow for stable, structural modifications to the synapse.

91

Contributing to the neuroarchitectural changes associated with learning, brief and distinct changes to neural gene expression are observed, termed genomic action potentials (gAP) (Clayton 2000; Clayton et al. 2019). The pathways activated by calcium interacting with CaMKII and calcineurin lead to increased gene transcription of elements necessary for cytoskeletal changes, termed the immediate early gene (IEG) response (Clayton et al. 2019). This dynamic change results in epigenetic modifications at the transcriptional and chromatin packaging levels (see Clayton et al. 2019 for review). One example is ARC, an IEG, which is involved in the endocytosis of AMPA receptors seen following calcineurin activation in LTD (Chowdhury et al. 2006; Rial Verde et al. 2006). Another example of IEG action is FOS, which interacts with histone methylation to prime histone acetylation based on neuronal activity. These common IEGs are poised to have quick transcriptional changes in multiple domains such as histone lysine modifications and mRNA interactions (D'Urso and Brickner 2014; D'Urso et al. 2016; Rve et al. 2014). It is also reasonable to hypothesize that, as there are differences in synaptic plasticity depending on the types and locations of neurons, as well as temporal differences such as early vs. late LTP or STDP, this is also true for the IEG associated with these changes (Tyssowski et al. 2018). Additionally, like the pattern of synaptic connections, the gAP differs when encoding different learning experiences (Mukherjee et al. 2018).

Histone and mC modifications, in particular, have been associated with synaptic plasticity and learning outcomes (Blaze and Roth 2013; Chwang et al. 2006; D'Urso and Brickner 2014; Dias et al. 2015; Feng et al. 2010; Kim and Kaang 2017; Levenson and Sweatt 2011; Peixoto and Abel 2012) as well as affording significant contribution to differences in the neural architecture of neonatal socioemotional learning (Ong et al. 2019). Consistently, pharmacological inhibition of mC modifications significantly impairs memory, and many EWAS identify mC modifications in genes involved in neurotransmitter pathways and learning (Day and Sweatt 2011; Mill et al. 2008).

Additionally, increases in histone acetylation and alterations in histone methylation are associated with memory formation, synaptic plasticity enhancement, and increased gene expression (Guan et al. 2002; Pang et al. 2019; Schaefer et al. 2009). For example, oral administration of the HDAC inhibitor suberoylanilide hydroxamic acid (SAHA) restored spatial memory and reduced inflammation in an aging animal model (Benito et al. 2015). There is also evidence that histone lysine methyltransferase complex G9a/GLP facilitates LTD maintenance in the hippocampus and inhibiting HATs significantly impairs learning potential (Oliveira et al. 2007; Sharma and Sajikumar 2018). A specific example of the role of histone methylation is the reduction of H3 histone dimethyl occupancy in the promoter region of a gene associated with long-term memory formation, *HOMER1A*, and an increase in its transcription in the amygdala during auditory fear conditioning (Mahan et al. 2012). Conversely, an increase in HDAC activity results in reduced synaptic plasticity and memory impairment, while pharmacological inhibition of HDAC improves memory formation (Guan et al. 2009; Levenson et al. 2004). Also, histone acetylation in the hippocampus is a consequence of contextual fear conditioning in rodent models (Levenson et al. 2004).

Another aspect of biological memory beyond encoding and maintenance of explicit and implicit learning is homeostatic conditioning (Clayton et al. 2019). Homeostasis is a summary mechanism maintaining a steady biological equilibrium to best preserve an optimal internal environment (Martin 2008). Depending on the changes to internal and external states, it is sometimes necessary to rebalance these homeostatic systems to reach a new equilibrium. In this case, a synapse changes because of homeostatic mechanisms. A common and illustrative neuronal example of homeostatic compensation is gaining tolerance to opiates (Koob 1996). By activating mu-opiate receptors in the brain at a constant, elevated level, these receptors become internalized and, eventually, broken down, while receptors responsible for opposite reactions, like norepinephrine receptors, are upregulated through increased transcription (Finn and Whistler 2001). This new receptor balance is a reaction to the ingestion of exogenous opiates and is responsible for both increasing tolerance to and withdrawal symptoms from opiates. Similar to Hebbian learning, these fluctuations could not occur without dynamic and maintained changes in gene transcription. Therefore, Clayton et al. (2019) posit an additional function of the gAP which could be regulating homeostatic compensation in a similar fashion. Homeostatic mechanisms working through the gAP at the network level may be more likely in response to large variations that activate homeostatic receptors such as changes in developmental stage, drug ingestion, or significant environmental experiences (Hrvatin et al. 2018; Miyashita et al. 2009; Miyatake et al. 2005; Tyssowski et al. 2018).

One example in humans of genetic deficits in epigenetic modifications resulting in profound cognitive and social dysfunction is Rett Syndrome (Jiang et al. 2004). Rett Syndrome is an intellectual disability disorder that results from a mutation in the MeCP2 gene, which checks and binds areas of DNA with methylation and ensures DNA is packaged appropriately (Amir et al. 1999). MeCP2 also affects synaptic formation and hippocampal memory (Jiang et al. 2004; Li et al. 2012; Skene et al. 2010). Extensive histone acetylation increases are a consequence of this MeCP2 mutation found in mice that are associated with increased stress, social withdrawal, and profound cognitive impairment (Shahbazian et al. 2002). Rett Syndrome is an example of how disrupted mC machinery affects the regulation of histone modifications, and thus gene expression and cognitive and social phenotypes. Another example of the manifest impact of histone modification variations in humans is the intellectual disability disorder Rubinstein-Taybi Syndrome (RTS) (Alarcón et al. 2004). RTS individuals have a mutation in their CBP gene, which transcribes for a protein that promotes histone acetylation and, thus, gene expression. Because of this mutation, RTS individuals and animal models of the disease present with profound cognitive impairments and substantial decreases in histone acetylation throughout the genome (Josselyn 2005; Kalkhoven et al. 2003; Korzus et al. 2004). In mouse models of RTS, the epigenetic action of CBP is disrupted specifically after separation of the pup from their mother (Wang et al. 2010). Taken together, these two mutations provide evidence for the weighty impact of epigenetic mechanisms in learning and the ensuing social consequences.

93

There is mounting evidence suggesting the importance of epigenetic modifications specifically affecting BDNF gene transcription, necessary for activitydependent neuronal plasticity. Histone deacetylase 2 (HDAC2), methyl-DNA cytosinephosphate-guanine-binding protein 2 (MeCP2), and methyltransferase 1 (DNMT1) can substantially induce chromatin remodeling in the promoter regions of the BDNF gene, which can subsequently modulate hippocampal synaptogenesis and cognitive function (Chen et al. 1967; Kavalali et al. 2011). Transcriptionally, with neuronal activity there is also an increase in mRNA levels and consistent decrease in mC changes at BDNF in the CA1 hippocampal region after fear conditioning. Additionally, there is a reduction in the long noncoding antisense RNA that downregulates BDNF expression (Lipovich et al. 2012; Lubin et al. 2008). BDNF promotes local synaptic protein mRNA translation and plays a necessary role in neuronal development, synaptic plasticity, and learning (Minichiello 2009; Park and Poo 2013; Takei et al. 2004). Epigenetic differences affecting BDNF have been associated with early-life adverse experiences, early-life stress, neglectful parenting, depression, posttraumatic stress disorder, and may be a valid biomarker for some psychiatric diseases due to its unique role in their pathology (de Lima et al. 2011; Kang et al. 2013; Roth and Sweatt 2011a, b; Roth et al. 2011; Seo et al. 2016; Zheleznyakova et al. 2016).

Epigenetics acts as the synaptic connection between genes and the environment, even at the synapse itself (Boyce and Kobor 2015). While there is evidence that the prenatal environment affects epigenetic differences, the clear role of epigenetics in the encoding of long-term memories indicates the importance of differences in these mechanisms as a response to postnatal experiences as well. Thus, as expected, there is an abundance of examples in human and animal models of environmental exposures correlating with differences in epigenetic mechanisms, much like environmental exposures correlate with differences in neural architecture and behavior (Araki et al. 2016; Bedrosian et al. 2018; Boyce and Kobor 2015; Essex et al. 2013; Gassen et al. 2017; Klengel et al. 2013; Mcgowan et al. 2009, 2011; Turecki and Meaney 2016; Weaver et al. 2004). Even epigenetic clocks are sensitive to environmental differences throughout the lifespan (Jylhävä et al. 2019). Also, similar to neural development, early life social experiences can sometimes more strongly relate to epigenetic differences than adult experiences, possibly due to the critical period of development and learning occurring at that time (Boyce and Kobor 2015; Bush et al. 2018; Gassen et al. 2017; Klengel et al. 2013; Lam et al. 2012; Wagner et al. 2015). Using the theoretical framework that changes in neural architecture and genomic transcription are reactions to the environment, it naturally follows that these longterm adaptations would happen early in childhood development in order to increase the chance of survival in whatever positive or negative circumstances are present. Learning from the social environment is one mechanism of behavioral neurogenomics where changes to neuroanatomy, epigenetic modifications, and behavior work in concert to adapt to an external stimulus. There are multiple types of stimuli that can act as an impetus for this learning, such as social reward, pain, and stress. We will discuss each of these possible provocations in the relevant social environments.

#### **4** Interpersonal Environments

### 4.1 Parenting and Enriched Environments

The first social environment a human infant is born into is the uniquely vital and interpersonal relationship with a caregiver. Human altricial young need constant care and affection, which they hopefully receive from their primary caregiver, often a parent. Having a positive, loving relationship in infancy with this person, who responds immediately and effectively to the child's needs, has lifelong effects (Zayas and Hazan 2015). Attachment theory, one of the most well-established social psychological theories, provides a foundation to understand both the impact and quality of early close relationships amid development.

In development, establishing successful relationships with adults and peers provides a foundation of capacities that children will use for a lifetime (Belsky and Cassidy 1994; Pietrornonaco and Barrett 2000; Thompson 2000; Zayas and Hazan 2015). Thus, Bowlby, father of attachment theory, referred to these attachment patterns as being "from cradle to grave" (Bowlby 1979, p. 129), possibly similar to the epigenetic modifications to be established in infancy and lasting through mortality. This attachment theoretical foundation provides a comprehensive account of the ontogeny and developmental sequelae of infant caregiver bonds, as well as a framework for investigating how perturbations of this system may result in individual differences. Additionally, animal models of pair bonding and advances in fMRI technology have contributed to a rich literature delineating the neural systems that underlie attachment behaviors (see Beckes et al. 2015 for review). These manifestations of social bonds in terms of physiology, emotion, and behavior are assumed to reflect the functioning of mental representations.

A defining principle of attachment theory is that past relationships and interactions with the social environment are stored in memory (e.g., Bowlby 1979, 1982; Bretherton and Munholland 2008; Collins et al. 2004; Pietromonaco et al. 2000; Zayas et al. 2011). Mental representations consist of detailed memories of interactions with, and conscious and nonconscious affective evaluations of, attachment figures (Zayas and Shoda 2005, 2015), as well as strategies to regulate negative affect in stressful and threatening situations (Collins et al. 2004; Pietromonaco et al. 2006; Zayas et al. 2009). From a psychological perspective, mental representations are impactful because they implicitly affect perceptions and expectations about likely events and patterns (Baldwin et al. 1993; Günaydin et al. 2012; Zayas et al. 2009). From a neuroscience perspective, these mental representations are akin to the engrams that are formed from a collection of neuronal connections built by LTP and recalled to regulate affect in times of need. Finally, from an epigenetic perspective, these mental representations may reflect the adaptations to early caregiver relationships and social environments that ultimately result in differing phenotypes. In regard to the later, there is a wealth of literature exhibiting reported epigenetic differences correlated with early caregiver relationships.

95

In animal research, the majority of studies have used rat models from the first 10 days of life, which represents a sensitive period in rat development known to facilitate early learning and infant-caregiver attachment (Roth and Sweatt 2011a, b). To continue the understanding of social epigenetics as adaptation in memories and the capacity for learning, one study found that poor early maternal caregiving in mice led to difficulties in spatial cognitive tasks (Bredy et al. 2004). More recent work in mice also found that expression of glutamate receptors necessary for LTP and LTD such as NMDA and AMPA in the ventromedial prefrontal cortex, the cognitive component of the socioemotional circuit, decreased in socially isolated adolescent, but not adult, mice (Lander et al. 2017). It has also been found that young mice which are not isolated, but receive less sensitivity and care from their mothers have abnormal hippocampal and amygdala BDNF gene expression necessary for learning and synaptic plasticity (Macrì et al. 2010). Similarly, amounts of BDNF decreased in the prefrontal cortex and hippocampus of juvenile socially isolated rodents (e.g., Branchi et al. 2004; Branchi 2009; Chatterjee et al. 2007; Choy et al. 2008; Fumagalli et al. 2007; Lippmann et al. 2007; Nair et al. 2007; Zimmerberg et al. 2009). These findings speak simultaneously to both the effect of social relationships on learning and the sensitive developmental period in which the plasticity of this adaptation takes place. In general, these findings are illustrative of the wider, rich literature on the epigenetic effects on plasticity in the prefrontolimbic and hippocampal regions of offspring exposed to reduced, or absent, maternal care (Branchi et al. 2006; Matas et al. 2016).

Stress effects also relate to a poor versus positive early caregiver relationship. An often-cited paper on the topic is by Weaver et al. (2004), on the relationship between maternal licking and grooming with mC differences in the promoter region of the glucocorticoid receptor gene (*NR3C1*). While they found that more licking and grooming from maternal rats lead to hypomethylation in the promoter region of the *NR3C1* and patterns of methylation in a broader surrounding area (Mcgowan et al. 2011), this study has yet to be replicated and is met with some skepticism in the field (Jones et al. 2018). However, more recent work in mice has also found different biological reactions to maternal caregiving in the hippocampus, a region associated with both learning and reactions to stress, and the dorsal raphe nucleus (DRN), the brain center for serotonin production and distribution (Araki et al. 2016; Bedrosian et al. 2018). In the DRN specifically, Araki and colleagues found hypomethylation affecting the GABA(B) receptor, which is a common pharmacological target for depression and anxiety relief (Araki et al. 2016; Felice et al. 2016).

Similar positive relationships between parental nurturance and memory development have also been found in humans (Farah et al. 2008). Generally, increased positive, engaged social environments increase memory formation in both humans and nonhuman primate models (Farah et al. 2008; Kozorovitskiy et al. 2005). Epigenetically, human studies have primarily focused on the mC of a few genes of specific and special prominence in the research, namely *BDNF* (see Zheleznyakova et al. 2016 for review), *NR3C1* (see Turecki and Meaney 2016 for review), *SLC6A4* (see Moore and Kobor 2018 for review), and *OXTR* (see Maud et al. 2018 for review). All of the proteins these genes encode have many functions across learning and homeostatic change, especially in relation to neurodevelopment and stress. For example, the *BDNF* gene codes for brain-derived neurotrophic factor, the canonical neuronal growth factor in the brain widely involved in the formation of any neuroarchitectural changes. Additionally, *NR3C1* is the most widely researched gene in regards to fMRI and stress-causing environments, such as poor maternal care, in both the animal and human literature (Jones et al. 2018; Turecki and Meaney 2016). One recent study found that increased maternal responsiveness and touch were correlated with hypomethylation in *NR3C1* exon 1F in female children (Ostlund et al. 2016). This sex-dependent response has been replicated in other studies as well, such as Garg et al. (2018) finding the greatest DNA methylation differences among attachment styles in females. Additionally, they found that across the sexes, attachment behavior patterns were correlated to over 10% of global mC differences in children, suggesting large biological responses to the sensitivity and consistency of the parental care environment (Garg et al. 2018).

Another nuanced aspect of the caregiver relationship is soft touch, which is incredibly important in healthy, normative infant development (Barnett 2005). There were significant mC differences between children who received high amounts of soft touch and those who did not as infants. Additionally, infants who were more distressed, yet received lower amounts of touch, were epigenetically younger, possibly indicating a biological developmental delay (Moore et al. 2017). This is most likely due to the social buffering effects of both mental representations and human touch. For example, holding the hand of a stranger can reduce both the subjective experience of pain and its neural signature, but holding the hand of a close relationship partner reduces pain in these areas to an even greater extent (Coan et al. 2006).

Ultimately, the research indicates that having a healthy, supportive early social environment leads to positive epigenetic, neurological, and psychological outcomes. This is most clear when examining the literature on the benefits to enriched environments both in buffering stress and in rescuing memory formation. In humans, for example, having a supportive family environment during development protected against harmful cellular and epigenetic aging due to racial prejudice experiences. However, individuals without a supportive family environment did experience biological weathering (Brody et al. 2016). In animals, enriched environments including both positive caregivers as well as social play and peer interactions associated with global brain differences such as larger total cortical weight, especially the dorsal cortex, and larger ratio of cortex weight to overall brain weight (Rosenzweig and Renner 1986). Although less than some of the more negative aspects of development, there is a respectable amount of literature on the effects of this socially and cognitively enhanced environment in model animals. One such study found that, even with poor early caregiving, having an enriched environment rescued the gene expression of the NR2A and NR2B subunits of the NMDA receptor and AMPA receptor, both suggesting that poor early caregiving is associated in a reduction of learning potential through a reduction of NMDA receptor activity, and that an enriched environment with peer sociality and cognitive stimulation can combat these learning effects (Bredy et al. 2004).

This effect is most likely related to the demonstrated modulation of synaptogenesis by exposure to environmental stimuli (Eckert and Abraham 2010; Fischer et al. 2007; Ramírez-Rodríguez et al. 2014). Being housed in a communal nest as a juvenile, a form of enriched environment, is linked to increased sociocognitive functioning and increased expression of BDNF in rodents (Branchi 2009). In fact, in enriched environments with dynamic social play, overall memory function is improved in rats, and even exposure to chemically induced short-term memory impairment in neonatal rodents can at least be partially rescued through enriched environment alone with no other pharmacological interventions (Shen et al. 2013; Shih et al. 2012). The cognitive disruption of this chemical impairment has been shown to derive through epigenetic protein interactions including such proteins as histone deacetylase 2, methyl-cytosine-phosphate-guanine-binding protein 2, and DNA methyltransferase 1 in the BDNF promoter region inhibiting BDNF expression necessary for synaptogenesis during development, which are specifically attenuated by an enriched environmental intervention alone (Wu et al. 2016a). Even in aging mice, which had altered H3 histone acetylation and histone methylation in hippocampal tissue, intervention with an enriched environment improved long-term memory deficits by reversing histone methylation around the BDNF gene in rodent hippocampal tissue (Morse et al. 2015). This study also indicated that histone lysine methylation may be a necessary transcriptional mechanism by which environmental enrichment rescues memory formation replicating previous literature in young rodent populations (Kuzumaki et al. 2011). Another pathway through which enriched environment improves memory is by preventing epigenetic changes, especially mC and histone deacetylation, driving oxidative stress (Griñan-Ferré et al. 2016). These environments do not need to be lifelong to have strong effects either. Even a relatively brief exposure to an enriched environment including dynamic social stimulation in juvenile mice enhances LTP through a cAMP/p38 MAP kinase-dependent signaling cascade (Arai et al. 2009).

However, not all early relationships are positive experiences. For example, both maternal and paternal life stress during early life was correlated with adolescent differences in mC in humans (Essex et al. 2013). In rats, newborns exposed to a stress-abusive mother showed increased methylation in the promoter region, and decreased expression, of the *BDNF* gene (Huang and Reichardt 2001). This difference in BDNF concentrations for abused versus non-abused rats appears to persist through adulthood (Roth et al. 2009). In this same study, a different group of newborn rats was also exposed to positive caregiving mothers. Both the maltreatment and beneficial caregiving mothers initially caused an increase in *BDNF* mRNA levels in the hippocampus (Roth et al. 2009). Both experiences, regardless of valance, equitably guided the growth of new neuronal connections in the memory center of the brain. Adaptationally, negative relationships and social environments are just as powerful as positive social learning experiences.

## 4.2 Pain, Stress, and Trauma

In early care environments, the perception of safety is the most critical component (Porges 2011). Breaching this trust results in negative social experiences that can be both stressful and painful. There are many ways to experience pain, such as acutely, chronically, physically, and emotionally; in abusive early social environments, children are exposed to all four kinds of pain. Pain is such a powerful motivator for learning that is often used in animal models for fear conditioning, which is quick to establish and difficult to extinguish (Hermans et al. 2006). This particular form of learning has been found to require epigenetic modifications to take place and results in epigenetic differences (see Dias et al. 2015 for review). Thus, the epigenetic consequences of such early-life adversity are, undoubtedly, affected by learning and the physiological consequences of experiencing pain.

It is first important to establish that the literature indicates neural reactions to physical and socioemotional pain are exceptionally similar, specifically in regards to the affective processing of pain (Eisenberger and Lieberman 2004; Papini et al. 2015). However, though pain is processed in the same regions, socioemotional pain, such as social rejection or isolation, is more potent on a chronic timescale because it is much more easily relived and remembered than physical pain once the original source of pain has subsided (Meyer et al. 2015). Animal studies have also repeatedly found that any unpredicted reward devaluation, such as through a sudden or bewildering social rejection, triggers the brain circuits involved in pain and stress (Papini et al. 2015). Individuals who experience abuse, especially from a caregiver, may experience the physical pain of abuse, but most certainly experience the social pain of rejection and betrayal in that moment and for years later.

Pain is the hedonically aversive conscious experience of the nociception response to damage (Moseley and Butler 2015). When physical damage to peripheral tissues occurs, this initiates an immune cascade of inflammatory mediators (Benzon et al. 2011). For example, bradykinin produces inflammatory pain and hyperalgesia through activation of G-protein-coupled receptors. Additionally, cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin 6 are released to moderate the inflammatory process and promote pain signaling by sensitizing nociceptors (Benzon et al. 2011). While these inflammatory mediators directly cause pain as a signal of tissue damage, they also modify sensory neurons, amplifying pain signal during transmission to the spinal cord, additionally motivating the desire to minimize injury and remove the aversive stimulus. Through subsequent changes in reaction to this acute event, such as gene regulation, receptor expression, glial activation, and sensitization, this pain may be maintained to become chronic pain (Denk and McMahon 2012). This immune response alone may result in epigenetic modifications, especially as immune responses lead to different cell type compositions in the blood as well as differentiation in epigenetic markers through the adaptive immune response (Janeway 2001).

This immune response is an important aspect of the sensory discriminant pain pathway. The input from this pathway passes through the nerves, spine, and brain stem to the thalamus and insular cortex where the homeostatic relevance and intensity of the signal is discerned (Craig 2003). However, there is also a learning aspect of pain through the formation of a threat memory. This is referred to as the affective motivational pain pathway and requires calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) activity in the amygdala (Han et al. 2015). In fact, CGRP activity in the parabrachial nucleus, a junction between the cerebellum and brain stem, is both necessary and sufficient for pain responses and fear conditioning due to its role in transmitting pain information to the central amygdala (Han et al. 2015). The central amygdala, in turn, sends input to the anterior cingulate cortex, which governs the level of unpleasantness derived from the signal and the quality of the motivational response (i.e., the more unpleasant, the greater the aversive motivation) (Craig 2003). This affective motivational pain pathway is necessary for learning to avoid noxious and harmful stimuli in the future, whether those stimuli are physical or social, while the discriminant response is necessary for acute treatment of the damage in the present.

Both the discriminate and affective pain pathways show clear associations with epigenetic modifications, though most investigations have focused on evaluating potential affective pain mitigation (Odell 2018). For example, one investigation of chronic pain detected 1,147 genes with differing RNA expression enriched for pathways involved in neuronal development and cell differentiation (Alvarado et al. 2015). HDAC levels were shown to be increased in the spinal cord and of critical importance to the induction and maintenance of inflammatory hyperalgesia (Bai et al. 2010). Studies have also been performed demonstrating the efficacy of HDAC inhibitors in improving stress-induced visceral hypersensitivity (Cao et al. 2016; Maloney et al. 2015). Interestingly, although administration of HDAC inhibitors reduces mechanical and thermal hypersensitivity by half, this is only true when HDAC administration occurs preemptively (Denk et al. 2013). Histone methylation also changes with pain, such as the increase in expression of proinflammatory cytokine monocyte chemotactic protein 3 in response to pain correlating with a decrease of histone lysine methylation in that protein's gene promoter region (Imai et al. 2013). Additionally, a reduction of miRNA in the dorsal root ganglia significantly decreased pain-related gene transcription and inflammation, though the affective motivational response to pain was unaffected (Zhao et al. 2010).

DNA methylation differences have also been associated with pain exposure. The promoter region for cystathionine-beta-synthetase, an enzyme in the nociceptive signaling pathway, was demethylated and the protein upregulated when experiencing pain (Qi et al. 2013). A rodent model for neuropathic pain showed that chronic painful neuropathy led to global changes in the degree of mC in the brain. About 6 months following peripheral nerve injury, decreases in global mC were found in the prefrontal cortex and amygdala (Tajerian et al. 2013). In another rodent neuropathic pain model, increased methylation of the mu-opioid receptor gene proximal promoter in the dorsal root ganglion, a key region in pain processing, was demonstrated (Zhou et al. 2014). There is also evidence for miRNA regulation of opioid tolerance in this pathway (He et al. 2010). Mu-opioid receptors, especially, are integral to the pain pathways due to their ability to reduce the affective motivational

component of pain (Simons et al. 2014), even in the absence of any visceral tissue damage (Papini 2009).

Ultimately, pain biology is both a unique, intense, and specific immune response and learning experience. These epigenetic changes related to the experience and sensitization of the pain response, both through immune cascades and neural receptor modifications, should be considered as a possible consequence of socially and physically painful social environments. However, the benefit of pain's relationship to these systems is discovering potential protective environments as well. For example, in a rodent model, increased maternal licking and grooming associated with mC in the interleukin-10 gene correlate with an increase in expression in the nucleus accumbens reward center. This, in turn, increased interleukin-10 protein in nucleus accumbens glial cells and reduced mu-opioid receptor glial activation to exogenous opioids, which resulted in less drug abuse (Schwarz et al. 2011). The inextricable link between pain and learning allows other positive environments such as sensitive maternal care or an enriched social play environment to reduce pain and the necessity of the pain-mitigating pathway response.

The possibility of experiencing pain, because it is such a noxious experience, is highly motivating to mitigate or prevent injury whenever and wherever possible. This causes a combination of constant uncertainty and the need for hypervigilance – a recipe for chronic stress. Though intimately intertwined with the pain pathway, the stress pathway is rooted in the effects of uncertainty. Whereas fear and pain generally have specific and proximal stimuli that trigger these reactions, stress requires no such unique or immediately relevant stimulus. The stress response is the collection of immune, neural, and homeostatic mechanisms that shift into a long-term state of hyperawareness with the anticipation of threats that could appear at any time. While this state can be lifesaving when triggered appropriately, being in a constant state of fearful uncertainty is not a healthy ideal and has lasting deleterious biological effects.

The stress system is extraordinarily far-reaching and complex, but importantly to the current discussion, involves an interaction of epigenetic, neural, and behavioral responses through both the immune system and learning and memory. When there is uncertainty about a potentially aversive or harmful outcome, the downstream stress response is activated by the hypothalamus. The hypothalamus secretes corticotropin-releasing hormone (CRH), which stimulates release of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) from the pituitary, which in turn signals two different stress pathways, one fast and one slow (Gunnar and Quevedo 2007). The two major stress pathways are the sympathetic-adrenomedullary (SAM) response and the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical (HPA) response (Gunnar and Quevedo 2007). In the fast, immediate SAM response, the ACTH triggers the adrenal medulla to release norepinephrine and epinephrine, neurotransmitters required to cause a rapid and intense nervous system response and hypervigilant attention (Benarroch 2007). In the slower, long-lasting HPA response, ACTH triggers the adrenal cortex to signal the release of the stress hormones glucocorticoids, the most important of which is cortisol, thus

dysregulating metabolism, suppressing the immune system, and disrupting homeostasis through glucocorticoid receptor binding systemically (Gunnar and Quevedo 2007). During the stress response, homeostatic mechanisms attempt to maintain equilibrium over a wide range adaptive circumstances in order to respond to any possible challenge. Stress is, in essence, a "ready" state from which a large, quick biological response is primed at a moment's notice and equipped with constant vigilance. Therefore, this cascade of biological effects both elicits a physiological and behavioral response, and poises the requisite systems for future environmental reactivity. Unfortunately, when chronically stressed, there is a burden placed on these biological systems such as the immune system and metabolism that becomes harmful, referred to as allosteric load (Gunnar and Quevedo 2007; Gunnar 2017). An excellent theoretical understanding of this facet of the stress response system is to return to the gAP (Clayton 2000; Clayton et al. 2019). The brain has a response to an environmental stressor that leads to transcriptional and epigenetic changes. These changes then trigger a "neuroendocrine action potential" as this neural response triggers both immediate and long-lasting changes throughout the limbic system and multiple organs (Clayton et al. 2019).

The clear, widespread effect of stress throughout all physiological systems makes it an understandable and unique candidate for understanding the epigenetics of social environment. Many adverse environments, both in the interpersonal, such as traumatic and abusive relationships with caregivers and peers, and the societal, such as minority stress and socioeconomic status stress, can trigger these same underlying processes, as all are sources of aversive, potentially harmful uncertainty. It is then understandable why the most commonly researched gene in social epigenetics is *NR3C1*, the glucocorticoid receptor gene (Turecki and Meaney 2016). In Turecki and Meaney's study (2016), they found consistent mC at the *NR3C1* in exon 1F/17 regarding parental stress, but inconsistent in other types and later life stressors. Additionally, recent work found that stress affected mRNA methylation in a region-specific manner, ultimately altering fear learning and synaptic plasticity (Engel et al. 2018).

The literature does appear to indicate that chronic stress in early life has a greater impact on mC patterns than those that occur in later life, but more research in this area is needed to make a definitive statement (Austin et al. 2018; Esposito et al. 2016). Work on cumulative stress, as opposed to early life or later life considered separately, also indicates an association with accelerated epigenetic aging (Zannas et al. 2015a). If this stronger association with stress and mC at younger ages is robust, it may be due to differences in the immune system's environmental sensitivity during early development (Miller et al. 2011). Additionally, a key component of the attachment relationship is to learn and support affect regulation (Hazan and Shaver 1987); having a responsive, consistent caregiver helps children express and deal with their negative emotions without triggering the endocrine stress response as if an uncertain threat had been detected; however, in abusive relationships, the parent is the source of uncertainty and danger (Repetti et al. 2014). While it is true that a recent, large study in humans did not replicate findings from smaller studies that

reported correlations between mC patterns and chronic social stress (Marzi et al. 2018), this may be due to differences in sample size, population, and consistency among ecologically valid measures of the type, context, and experience of stress. More replications with standardized measures and large sample sizes are needed to make any definitive statements about detectable mC differences among those who have experienced chronic stress.

In addition to *NR3C1*, there is a robust literature associating early-life adversity such as social, physical, or parental stressors, with epigenetic changes in *BDNF* gene expression (Roth and Sweatt 2011a, b). These differences may correlate with a reduction in socioemotional learning and plasticity, and have shown an increased capacity for fear learning (Dias et al. 2015). Impacted learning has also been implicated in more specific associations than general stress, such as the several reported associations between trauma, abuse, and differences in epigenetic modifications (e.g., Dickson et al. 2018; Klengel et al. 2014; Lutz and Turecki 2014; Mehta et al. 2013; Roberts et al. 2018; Suderman et al. 2014; Weder et al. 2014) as well as associations specifically with posttraumatic stress disorder (see Zannas et al. 2015b for review). Though there is a range in the findings of epigenetics in regards to early life adversity from both candidate gene approaches and EWAS approaches, overlapping genes associated with stress, pain, learning, and the immune system were common. For example, one study found immune cell differences and accelerated epigenetic age associated with lifetime PTSD severity (Rutering et al. 2016).

It is possible that trauma and pain in early life leads to learning and adaptation to a harsher world that requires more vigilance instead of a conservative homeostasis, a molecular push toward fear conditioning instead of socioemotional development, and a greater sensitivity to pain in order to more quickly identify threats. Those who develop in positive, enriched environments, on the other hand, thrive with reduced allosteric load and have resilience that seems especially prominent in stress coping and synaptic plasticity. Instead of being able to learn more and put their energy toward other endeavors, these adaptations in a world of agonizing uncertainty could be primed or activated by epigenetic modifications for the sole purpose of survival. A plausible model of chronic life stressors proposes a similar line of reasoning and theorizes with significant evidence that epigenetic modifications set into motion by the cascade of stress hormones both affect and prime a traumatized individual for accelerated aging and biological weathering (Gassen et al. 2017). Supporting this hypothesis, a high number of sites used in mC epigenetic clocks are located within glucocorticoid response elements (Zannas et al. 2015a).

However, though it may not undo the harmful developmental environment, social support, especially touch, has been associated with stress buffering in many studies (Coan et al. 2006; Cohen and Wills 1985; Matthews and Gallo 2011; Ozbay et al. 2007, 2008). This is most likely through the dual mechanisms of affect regulation through a social buffer so as to not trigger the stress hormone cascade, and through the mu-opiates that are released in social reward reducing affective motivational pain in the nociceptive pathways and the intensity of perceived threats (LaGraize et al. 2006; Troisi et al. 2011). This may be why we see rescue effects of social, enriched environments for memory deficits as discussed above. This may also contribute to

the difficulty in reproducing many social epigenetic findings, as adverse effects are often accounted for, but buffering and resiliency effects are not.

#### **5** Societal Environments

#### 5.1 Minority Status and Socioeconomic Status

Chronic stress has clear physiological, psychological, neurological, and epigenetic effects. However, not all chronic stress stems from abuse or trauma. In fact, not all chronic stress stems from interpersonal relationships at all. As a social species, we have developed a society with biases, prejudices, and hierarchies. Our modern social environments remain embedded by historical power relationships. Though there is much work being done to correct these injustices, racial, ethnic, gender, sexuality, or religious minorities, as well as those with a low socioeconomic status (SES) and social position, face considerably more stress from societal pressures and inequities than their counterparts. This stress may then exacerbate these inequalities through cellular means, as well as societal.

A minority group that is illustrative of how social structures can affect epigenetics and, ultimately, associate with extreme behavioral phenotypes are people living with schizophrenia. Schizophrenia is a mental illness often characterized by flat affect, hallucinations, and psychosis for which the polygenetic burden is significantly associated with epigenetic variation, suggesting that regulatory variation of the disorder stems from both the genome and environment (Cromby et al. 2019). Schizophrenia is the most thoroughly studied psychiatric disorder from an epigenetic perspective, mostly likely due to the clear environmental effects in its presence, onset, and trajectory. Specifically, there is evidence associating schizophrenia presence and onset with low SES, ethnic differences and racial discrimination, immigration, urban living, childhood adversity and trauma, and parental absence (Cromby et al. 2019). Though there is an underlying genetic component to the disorder clear from family clustering, this risk is compounded by exposure to these social environmental factors, such as minority status (Hutchinson et al. 1997). There is significant evidence that minority status, or seeming apart from society in any way, increases the likelihood of developing schizophrenia most likely due to the chronic societally based stress of social position (Bourque et al. 2011; Cromby et al. 2019; Selten 2005; Van Os et al. 2010). For example, Black Caribbean immigrants to the UK who grew up in the Caribbean do not express any increased risk of psychosis; however, their children, born and raised as Black Caribbean immigrants in the UK, had a seven times higher risk of psychosis (Hutchinson et al. 1997). This was familial risk within an ethnically homogenous sample, pointing toward a significant association with the chronic stressors of immigrant and racial minority status being significant drivers of schizophrenia risk. Even more physical variables, such as urban neighborhood residence,

that have been found to increase psychosis risk, appear to be more driven by social fragmentation than physical environment (Zammit et al. 2010).

Often compounding the chronic stress associated with minority status is the stress associated with class and SES. Most likely due to many social, physical, and biological factors encompassed in SES, there is a plethora of associations between SES and epigenetic changes. As SES is societally constructed, it is difficult to create an ecologically valid animal model with which to investigate epigenetic modifications; therefore, the majority of epigenetic research is focused on mC associations in humans. Low SES, especially during youth, has a significant and robust association with age acceleration and sites connected to immune function, development, and age-related diseases (Austin et al. 2018; Bush et al. 2018; Chen et al. 2011; Fiorito et al. 2017; Lam et al. 2012; McCrory et al. 2019; Mcdade et al. 2019; Simons et al. 2016; Tehranifar et al. 2013). Even with low-SES youth, greater self-control associates with improved socioemotional functioning and general success, but also epigenetic age acceleration, supporting the idea that increased allosteric load may contribute to worse health outcomes among the disadvantaged (Miller et al. 2015).

Another aspect of the relationship between SES and epigenetic modifications is that lower SES correlates with both smoking and drinking behavior (Sweeting and Hunt 2015; Van Oers et al. 1999). Not surprisingly, social stress also triggers the urge to smoke and drink (Fouquereau et al. 2003; Niaura et al. 2002). There is evidence that drinking increases emotional experiences and smoking temporarily reduces arousal as evidenced by reduced neurological event-related potentials, supporting a self-medication hypothesis of legal drug use (Choi et al. 2015; Sayette 2017). This relationship of SES with smoking and drinking, possibly as a way to deal with stress, may exacerbate epigenetic disparities due to the strong, reproducible effects of smoking and drinking on mC, especially on sites related to age, immune, and cardiovascular function (Brückmann et al. 2017; Goldowitz et al. 2014; Hillemacher et al. 2008; Mahnke et al. 2017; McCartney et al. 2018; Ponomarev et al. 2017; Tulisiak et al. 2017).

In addition to smoking and drinking, it is important in every mC investigation to account for cell type proportions, as these are the primary drivers of variation, but this is especially true in explorations of SES due to the significant immune system effects of the chronic stress system. For example, one study found that leukocyte composition of peripheral blood covaried with patterns of mC at many sites and mC was strongly associated with the monocyte inflammatory response (Lam et al. 2012). Monocytes also epigenetically aged faster in those exposed to low SES in early life (Austin et al. 2018). These immune responses, most likely from stress, may contribute, at least in part, to the association of SES, especially early life SES, with epigenetic age acceleration and aging-related disease risk, even controlling for related factors such as smoking and drinking (Austin et al. 2018; Simons et al. 2016). When Simons et al. (2016) investigated the main environmental driver of epigenetic age acceleration in a low SES sample, they found that it was the stress of financial insecurity that drove the SES and accelerated aging association, providing further evidence for the link between early life stress, immune response, epigenetic change, and health outcomes (reviewed in Miller et al. 2011). However, similar to other early exposures to stress, the effects of low SES on immune response can be buffered through social support in the form of warm, positive caregiving (Chen et al. 2011).

## 5.2 Social Effects on Physical Environment

Though it may not be interpersonal or even seem entirely social, there is a social environment in the construction of our societies in the types of nutrients we can access, the configuration of neighborhoods in which we live, the services to which we have access, and the physical environments to which we are exposed. Both physical and social environments can affect our epigenetic modifications (Mcdade et al. 2017). The social administration of our physical environments is yet another form of social environmental influence to which we are able to learn and adapt psychologically and biologically, whether it is conscious or unconscious.

One major aspect in the construction of socially administered environments is the spatial sorting of people based on their SES, race, or ethnicity. As discussed above, there is evidence chronic stress that accompanies being in a reduced societal position, whether through racism or classism, as well as the stress of deprivation, associates with epigenetic change. However, in addition to this divide, health differences among neighborhoods persist even after adjusting for SES and demographic factors, most likely due to the impact of broad environmental factors such as access to nutrition or exposure to pollution (Mair et al. 2008; Paczkowski and Galea 2010; Pickett and Pearl 2001; Roux and Mair 2010). Factors linked to differences in physical environment most likely contribute to and reinforce the detrimental effects of chronic societal stress on low SES and minority communities (Bleich et al. 2012; LaVeist et al. 2011). Unsurprisingly then, physical environment and location are also tied to risk of schizophrenia (March et al. 2008).

One example of how physical environments may perpetuate the biological differences among classes and races are food deserts. These are areas, either particularly urban or rural, where fresh produce and other healthy foods are either not available or too expensive to be purchased as an everyday source of caloric intake. Low SES neighborhoods are especially likely to be located in a food desert (Ghosh-Dastidar et al. 2014). Food availability and food advertising, which is different for lower SES neighborhoods, influence energy intake and the nutritional value of foods consumed (Grier and Kumanyika 2008; Harris et al. 2009). The wealth of literature on the epigenetics of nutrition, especially prenatal nutrition, pales only in comparison to epigenetic work in cancer (Anderson et al. 2012). The importance of a balanced, healthy diet from conception and throughout life on epigenetic modifications is an incredibly robust finding, as are similar results for morbidity and mortality (e.g., Anderson et al. 2012; Gabbianelli and Damiani 2018; Lillycrop and Burdge 2012; Mathers 2006; Milagro et al. 2013; Navarro et al. 2017; Zhang 2015). Along similar lines, the structure of a socially administrated physical environment can also be linked to differences in children's physical activity (Bringolf-Isler et al. 2010; Davison and Lawson 2006; Galvez et al. 2010; Sallis and Glanz 2006). Physical activity is often linked to morbidity and mortality, as well as epigenetic modifications, learning, and aging (e.g., Kaliman et al. 2011; Kashimoto et al. 2016; Kirchner et al. 2013; Ling and Rönn 2014; Mikkelsen et al. 2017; Moylan et al. 2013; Rodrigues et al. 2015; Zimmer et al. 2016). Another example is physical proximity to hazardous sites and pollution, which tend to be more prevalent in low-income or minority neighborhoods (Brulle and Pellow 2006; Mohai et al. 2009; Morello-Frosch et al. 2011). The effects of exposure to air pollution are well evidenced in both morbidity and epigenetics research (e.g., Barouki et al. 2018; Brook et al. 2010; Chen et al. 2016; Clifford et al. 2017; Gref et al. 2017; Laumbach and Kipen 2012; Luyten et al. 2018; Mustafíc et al. 2012; Rider et al. 2016; Somineni et al. 2016; Tzivian 2011). This is most likely due to the immune responses to breathing in toxic exogenous factors (Tzivian 2011).

Additionally, neighborhood conditions can create stress, such as feeling unsafe, as well as acting as social buffers against adverse effects of stress such as social cohesion or integration into the neighborhood or environments such as work or school (Cutrona et al. 2006; De Silva et al. 2005; Do et al. 2011; Mair et al. 2008; Merkin et al. 2009). One possibility of why some immigrant groups have better morbidity and mortality than other groups in the same city is the social support and cohesion within the community (Matthews et al. 2010). As discussed above, the stress response affects many systems and may lead to widespread epigenetic modifications, especially during early development. Once again, even the midst of possible adaptation to a harmful environment, a positive, enriched social environment shows ecological rescue effects for health. Our epigenetic mechanisms modify, our neurological mechanisms encode, and our psychological mechanisms learn from our social environments.

## 6 Conclusion

From the moment we are born, our social relationships are a key component of how the world affects us. They are one of the first postnatal inputs afforded to the rapidly developing neonatal biology and are essential for survival. While data on epigenetics and the social environment have been spread out across disciplines, one can imagine potential examples for stringing these findings together cohesively. One example of this cell-to-society effect could be a child born in a family with insensitive caregivers who consistently do not respond to the child's needs or give contact comfort. This, in turn, could lead to the hypermethylation of the promoter region for the BDNF gene, less BDNF transcription, and less BDNF present in the hippocampus and socioemotional circuit of the brain. This would then decrease the ability of the child to learn from their social environment and affect their ability to have successful interpersonal relationships. This lack of social efficacy could then make it more likely the individual would experience social pain and more difficult to receive social support to buffer stressful experiences throughout their lives. Without social buffering, the stress response could be triggered more often, resulting in reduced immune responses and homeostatic compensation through epigenetic modifications.

Over time, these cumulative biological and behavioral responses could increase allosteric load and possibly lead to accelerated aging and health decline, which may also affect access to services, financial earning ability, and physical environment to further exacerbate biological and sociological disparities seen at a population level.

These social environments are an opportunity for adaptation through experience seen pandiscipline through concepts such as mental representations, LTP and memory engrams, and epigenetic change such as histone lysine trimethylation affecting the promoters of synaptic plasticity-related genes. Fundamentally, all psychological, neurobiological, and epigenetic reactions to these social environments are opportunities to learn from and adapt to them in order to best thrive in the world as it is, whether that environmental situation be ideal, violent, or deprived. The experience-dependent plasticity gained from the interaction between neuroscience and epigenetics is integral to this adaptation (Clayton et al. 2019). These systems may be working as a new state of vigilance. Although the context of the social environment is paramount in the specific reaction and modification, the ultimate goal and underlying mechanistic interplay remain largely the same – to learn from our social world to better survive in the environment we find ourselves in.

### References

- Åhs F, Rosén J, Kastrati G, Fredrikson M, Agren T, Lundström JN (2018) Biological preparedness and resistance to extinction of skin conductance responses conditioned to fear relevant animal pictures: a systematic review. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev. 2018.10.017
- Alarcón JM, Malleret G, Touzani K, Vronskaya S, Ishii S, Kandel ER, Barco A (2004) Chromatin acetylation, memory, and LTP are impaired in CBP+/– mice: a model for the cognitive deficit in Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome and its amelioration. Neuron. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron. 2004.05.021
- Alvarado S, Tajerian M, Suderman M, Machnes Z, Pierfelice S, Millecamps M et al (2015) An epigenetic hypothesis for the genomic memory of pain. Front Cell Neurosci 9:1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2015.00088
- Amir RE, Van Den Veyver IB, Wan M, Tran CQ, Francke U, Zoghbi HY (1999) Rett syndrome is caused by mutations in X-linked MECP2, encoding methyl-CpG-binding protein 2. Nat Genet 23(2):185–188. http://genetics.nature.com
- Anderson OS, Sant KE, Dolinoy DC (2012) Nutrition and epigenetics: an interplay of dietary methyl donors, one-carbon metabolism and DNA methylation. J Nutr Biochem. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2012.03.003
- Arai JA, Li S, Hartley DM, Feig LA (2009) Transgenerational rescue of a genetic defect in longterm potentiation and memory formation by juvenile enrichment. J Neurosci 29(5):1496–1502. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5057-08.2009
- Araki R, Hiraki Y, Nishida S, Kuramoto N, Matsumoto K, Yabe T (2016) Epigenetic regulation of dorsal raphe GABAB1a associated with isolation-induced abnormal responses to social stimulation in mice. Neuropharmacology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2015.09.013
- Ausió J, Abbott DW (2002) The many tales of a tail: carboxyl-terminal tail heterogeneity specializes histone H2A variants for defined chromatin function. Biochemistry 41(19):5946–5949. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi020059d

- Austin MK, Chen E, Ross KM, Mcewen LM, Maclsaac JL, Kobor MS, Miller GE (2018) Early-life socioeconomic disadvantage, not current, predicts accelerated epigenetic aging of monocytes. Psychoneuroendocrinology 97:131–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.07.007
- Bai G, Wei D, Zou S, Ren K, Dubner R (2010) Inhibition of class II histone deacetylases in the spinal cord attenuates inflammatory hyperalgesia. Mol Pain 6(1):51–63. http://www.ucsc
- Baldwin MW, Fehr B, Keedian E, Seidel M, Thomson DW (1993) An exploration of the relational schemata underlying attachment styles: self-report and lexical decision approaches. Personal Soc Psychol Bull 19:746
- Bale TL, Baram TZ, Brown AS, Goldstein JM, Insel TR, Mccarthy MM et al (2010) Early life programming and neurodevelopmental disorders. Biol Psychiatry 68(4):314–319. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.05.028
- Bandura A (1977) Social learning theory. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs
- Banerjee T, Chakravarti D (2011) A peek into the complex realm of histone phosphorylation. Mol Cell Biol 31(24):4858–4873. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.05631-11
- Barnett L (2005) Keep in touch: the importance of touch in infant development. Infant Observation 8(2):115–123. https://doi.org/10.1080/13698030500171530
- Barouki R, Melén E, Herceg Z, Beckers J, Chen J, Karagas M et al (2018) Epigenetics as a mechanism linking developmental exposures to long-term toxicity. Environ Int. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.02.014
- Barr R, Dowden A, Hayne H (1996) Developmental changes in deferred imitation by 6-to 24-month-old infants. Infant Behav Dev 19. https://s3.amazonaws.com/academia.edu.docu ments/32906896/1barrdowdenhayne.pdf?response-content-disposition=inline%253Bfilename %253DDevelopmental\_changes\_in\_deferred\_imitat.pdf&X-Amz-Algorithm=AWS4-HMAC-SHA256&X-Amz-Credential=AKIAIWOWYYGZ2Y53UL3A%252F201
- Bártová E, Krejčí J, Harničarová A, Galiová G, Kozubek S (2008) Histone modifications and nuclear architecture: a review. J Histochem Cytochem 56(8):711–721. https://doi.org/10.1369/ jhc.2008.951251
- Beckes L, IJzerman H, Tops M (2015) Toward a radically embodied neuroscience of attachment and relationships. Front Hum Neurosci 9:1–18. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2015.00266
- Bedrosian TA, Quayle C, Novaresi N, Gage FH (2018) Early life experience drives structural variation of neural genomes in mice. Science 359(6382):1395–1399. https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.aah3378
- Belsky J, Cassidy J (1994) Attachment: theory and evidence. In: Rutter M, Hay D (eds) Development through life. Blackwell Scientific, Oxford, pp 373–402
- Benarroch EE (2007) Enteric nervous system: functional organization and neurologic implications. Neurology 69(20):1953–1957
- Benito E, Dean C, Fischer A (2015) HDAC inhibitor-dependent transcriptome and memory reinstatement in cognitive decline models. J Clin Invest 125(9):3572. https://doi.org/10.1172/ JCI79942
- Benzon H, Raja SN, Fishman SE, Liu SS, Cohen SP (2011) Essentials of pain medicine. Elsevier Health Sciences, Philadelphia. E-book
- Blaze J, Roth TL (2013) Epigenetic mechanisms in learning and memory. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Cogn Sci. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcs.1205
- Bleich SN, Jarlenski MP, Bell CN, LaVeist TA (2012) Health inequalities: trends, progress, and policy. Annu Rev Public Health 33:7–40
- Boccaletto P, Machnicka MA, Purta E, Piatkowski P, Baginski B, Wirecki TK et al (2017) MODOMICS: a database of RNA modification pathways. 2017 update. Nucleic Acids Res 46 (2):303–307. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkx1030
- Bock C, Paulsen M, Tierling S, Mikeska T, Lengauer T, Walter J (2006) CpG island methylation in human lymphocytes is highly correlated with DNA sequence, repeats, and predicted DNA structure. PLoS Genet 2(3):243–252. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.0020026.eor

- Bourque F, Van Der Ven E, Malla A (2011) A meta-analysis of the risk for psychotic disorders among first- and second-generation immigrants. Psychol Med 41(5):897–910. https://doi.org/ 10.1017/S0033291710001406
- Bowlby J (1979) The making and breaking of affectional bonds. Tavistock, London
- Bowlby J (1982) Attachment and loss: retrospect and prospect. Am J Orthopsychiatry 52:664
- Boyce WT, Kobor MS (2015) Development and the epigenome: the 'synapse' of gene-environment interplay. Dev Sci 18(1):1–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/desc.12282
- Brami-Cherrier K, Roze E, Girault J-A, Betuing S, Caboche J (2009) Role of the ERK/MSK1 signalling pathway in chromatin remodeling and brain responses to drugs of abuse. J Neurochem 108:1323–1335. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.05879.x
- Branchi I (2009) The mouse communal nest: investigating the epigenetic influences of the early social environment on brain and behavior development. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 33:551–559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2008.03.011
- Branchi I, Francia N, Alleva E (2004) Epigenetic control of neurobehavioural plasticity: the role of neurotrophins. Behav Pharmacol 15(5–6):353–362. https://doi.org/10.1097/00008877-200409000-00006
- Branchi I, D'Andrea I, Fiore M, Di Fausto V, Aloe L, Alleva E (2006) Early social enrichment shapes social behavior and nerve growth factor and brain-derived neurotrophic factor levels in the adult mouse brain. Biol Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.01.005
- Braun PR, Han S, Hing B, Nagahama Y, Gaul LN, Heinzman JT et al (2019) Genome-wide DNA methylation comparison between live human brain and peripheral tissues within individuals. Transl Psychiatry 9(47). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-019-0376-y
- Bredy TW, Tie YZ, Grant RJ, Diorio J, Meaney MJ (2004) Peripubertal environmental enrichment reverses the effects of maternal care on hippocampal development and glutamate receptor subunit expression. Eur J Neurosci 20(5):1355–1362. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568. 2004.03599.x
- Bretherton I, Munholland KA (2008) Internal working models in attachment relationships: elaborating a central construct in attachment theory. In: Cassidy J, Shaver PR (eds) Handbook of attachment: theory, research, and clinical applications, 2nd edn. Guilford, New York, pp 102–127
- Bringolf-Isler B, Grize L, M\u00e4der U, Ruch N, Sennhauser FH, Braun-Fahrl\u00e4nder C (2010) Built environment, parents' perception, and children's vigorous outdoor play. Prev Med 50 (5-6):251-256
- Brody GH, Miller GE, Yu T, Beach SRH, Chen E (2016) Supportive family environments ameliorate the link between racial discrimination and epigenetic aging: a replication across two longitudinal cohorts. Psychol Sci 27(4):230–541. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0956797615626703
- Bronfenbrenner U (2009) The ecology of human development. Harvard University Press, Boston
- Brook RD, Rajagopalan S, Pope CA, Brook JR, Bhatnagar A, Roux ADV et al (2010) Particulate matter air pollution and cardiovascular disease. Circulation 121(21):2331–2378
- Brückmann C, Islam SA, Macisaac JL, Morin AM, Karle KN, Di Santo A et al (2017) DNA methylation signatures of chronic alcohol dependence in purified CD3 + T-cells of patients undergoing alcohol treatment. Sci Rep 7(1):6605. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-06847-z
- Brulle RJ, Pellow DN (2006) Environmental justice: human health and environmental inequalities. Annu Rev Public Health 27:103–124
- Bryois J, Garrett ME, Song L, Safi A, Giusti-Rodriguez P, Johnson GD et al (2018) Evaluation of chromatin accessibility in prefrontal cortex of individuals with schizophrenia. Nat Commun 9 (1):3121. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-05379-y
- Buenrostro JD, Wu B, Litzenburger UM, Ruff D, Gonzales ML, Snyder MP et al (2015) Single-cell chromatin accessibility reveals principles of regulatory variation. Nature 523(7561):486–490. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14590

- Buenrostro J, Wu B, Chang H, Greenleaf W (2016) ATAC-seq: a method for assaying chromatin accessibility genome-wide. Curr Protoc Mol Biol 109:21.29.1–21.29.9. https://doi.org/10.1002/ 0471142727.mb2129s109
- Bukhari SA, Saul MC, Seward CH, Zhang H, Bensky M, James N et al (2017) Temporal dynamics of neurogenomic plasticity in response to social interactions in male threespined sticklebacks. PLoS Genet 13(7):1–21. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1006840
- Bush NR, Edgar RD, Park M, Macisaac JL, Mcewen LM, Adler NE et al (2018) The biological embedding of early-life socioeconomic status and family adversity in children's genome-wide DNA methylation. Epigenomics 10(11):1445–1461. https://doi.org/10.2217/epi-2018-0042
- Cao L, Mcdonnell A, Nitzsche A, Alexandrou A, Saintot P-P, Loucif AJC et al (2016) Pharmacological reversal of a pain phenotype in iPSC-derived sensory neurons and patients with inherited erythromelalgia. Sci Transl Med 8(335):335ra56. www.ScienceTranslationalMedicine.org
- Casper M (2001) A definition of "social environment". Am J Public Health 9(3):465
- Chatterjee D, Chatterjee-Chakraborty M, Rees S, Cauchi J, de Medeiros CB, Fleming AS (2007) Maternal isolation alters the expression of neural proteins during development: "stroking" stimulation reverses these effects. Brain Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2007.04.069
- Chen WY, Townes TM (2000) Molecular mechanism for silencing virally transduced genes involves histone deacetylation and chromatin condensation. Proc Natl Acad Sci 97 (1):377–382. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.97.1.377
- Chen WG, Chang Q, Lin Y, Meissner A, West AE, Griffith EC et al (1967) Derepression of BDNF transcription involves calcium-dependent phosphorylation of MeCP2. Annu Rev Neurosci 35:648. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1087846
- Chen E, Miller GE, Kobor MS, Cole SW (2011) Maternal warmth buffers the effects of low earlylife socioeconomic status on pro-inflammatory signaling in adulthood. Mol Psychiatry 16 (7):729–737. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2010.53
- Chen R, Meng X, Zhao A, Wang C, Yang C, Li H et al (2016) DNA hypomethylation and its mediation in the effects of fine particulate air pollution on cardiovascular biomarkers: a randomized crossover trial. Environ Int. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.06.026
- Choi D, Ota S, Watanuki S (2015) Does cigarette smoking relieve stress? Evidence from the eventrelated potential (ERP). Int J Psychophysiol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2015.10.005
- Chowdhury S, Shepherd JD, Okuno H, Lyford G, Petralia RS, Plath N et al (2006) Arc/Arg3.1 interacts with the endocytic machinery to regulate AMPA receptor trafficking. Neuron. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.08.033
- Choy KHC, De Visser Y, Nichols NR, Van Den Buuse M (2008) Combined neonatal stress and young-adult glucocorticoid stimulation in rats reduce BDNF expression in hippocampus: effects on learning and memory. Hippocampus 18:655–667. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20425
- Chu C, Qu K, Zhong FL, Artandi SE, Chang HY (2011) Genomic maps of long noncoding RNA occupancy reveal principles of RNA-chromatin interactions. Mol Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molcel.2011.08.027
- Chwang WB, O'riordan KJ, Levenson JM, Sweatt JD (2006) ERK/MAPK regulates hippocampal histone phosphorylation following contextual fear conditioning. Learn Mem 13:322–328. https://doi.org/10.1101/lm.152906
- Clayton DF (2000) The genomic action potential. Neurobiol Learn Mem. https://doi.org/10.1006/ nlme.2000.3967
- Clayton DF, Anreiter I, Aristizabal M, Frankland PW, Binder EB, Citri A (2019) The role of the genome in experience-dependent plasticity: extending the analogy of the genomic action potential. Proc Natl Acad Sci:201820837. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1820837116
- Clifford RL, Jones MJ, MacIsaac JL, McEwen LM, Goodman SJ, Mostafavi S et al (2017) Inhalation of diesel exhaust and allergen alters human bronchial epithelium DNA methylation. J Allergy Clin Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2016.03.046
- Coan JA, Schaefer HS, Davidson RJ (2006) Lending a hand: social regulation of the neural response to threat. Psychol Sci 17(12):1032–1039. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2006. 01832.x

- Cohen S, Wills TA (1985) Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis: a theoretical analysis. Psychol Bull 98(2):310–357. https://s3.amazonaws.com/academia.edu.documents/ 40586205/PsychBull1985.pdf?AWSAccessKeyId=AKIAIWOWYYGZ2Y53UL3A& Expires=1516704768&Signature=PkHVhko7UgSkjnTelcj58YnnHR8%3D&response-con tent-disposition=inline%3Bfilename%3DStress\_Social\_Support\_and\_the\_Buff
- Collins NL, Guichard AC, Ford MB, Feeney BC (2004) Working models of attachment: new developments and emerging themes. In: Rholes S, Simpson JA (eds) Adult attachment: theory, research, and clinical implications. Guilford, New York, pp 196–239
- Cooper RP, Aslin RN (1990) Preference for infant-directed speech in the first month after birth. Child Dev 61(5):1584–1595. https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/1130766.pdf?casa\_ token=VZ2upZuEDGMAAAAA:qTh21VOjCOOUEZAFbyw9AnykclAg6BbG\_ urpmOg7HL3nL6tcNeLf4cWPW0MQSh-EW72hLYcwxVBWS0\_ 9b1xk9bXC4AK8unwHfBMncOJHWmOeun8rdw
- Cooper RP, Aslin RN (1994) Developmental differences in infant attention to the spectral properties of infant. Child Dev 65(6):1663–1667. https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/1131286.pdf?casa\_ token=Y98xWKNBA4sAAAAA:4axq7Qw8WbU6\_TeZp2HbVSXlgdRVL5ZTAc3nWis\_ xCXSCKSdp3v0enhcB-9-

rpHfmjW0Z05zOgKCZX5KdLaLgIdBSur3bty4odWm0TVvpxfK6vaIVw

- Craig AD (2003) A new view of pain as a homeostatic emotion. Trends Neurosci. https://doi.org/10. 1016/S0166-2236(03)00123-1
- Cromby J, Chung E, Papadopoulos D, Talbot C (2019) Reviewing the epigenetics of schizophrenia. J Ment Health 28(1):71–79. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638237.2016.1207229
- Cummins DD, Cummins R (2015) Biological preparedness and evolutionary explanation. In: The world in the head. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:osobl/9780199548033.003.0013
- Cutrona CE, Wallace G, Wesner KA (2006) Neighborhood characteristics and depression: an examination of stress processes. Curr Dir Psychol Sci 15(4):188–192
- D'Urso A, Brickner JH (2014) Mechanisms of epigenetic memory. Trends Genet. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.tig.2014.04.004
- D'Urso A, Takahashi Y, Xiong B, Marone J, Coukos R, Randise-Hinchliff C et al (2016) Set1/ COMPASS and mediator are repurposed to promote epigenetic transcriptional memory. elife 5:1–29. https://doi.org/10.7554/elife.16691
- Davison K, Lawson C (2006) Do attributes in the physical environment influence children's physical activity? A review of the literature. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 3(1):19
- Day JJ, Sweatt JD (2011) Epigenetic treatments for cognitive impairments. Neuropsychopharmacology 37:247–260. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2011.85
- de Lima MNM, Presti-Torres J, Vedana G, Alcalde LA, Stertz L, Fries GR et al (2011) Early life stress decreases hippocampal BDNF content and exacerbates recognition memory deficits induced by repeated d-amphetamine exposure. Behav Brain Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr. 2011.05.022
- de Silva P (1988) Phobias and preparedness: replication and extension. Behav Res Ther. https://doi. org/10.1016/0005-7967(88)90036-8
- De Silva MJ, McKenzie K, Harpham T, Huttly SRA (2005) Social capital and mental illness: a systematic review. J Epidemiol Community Health 59(8):619–627
- Denk F, McMahon SB (2012) Chronic pain: emerging evidence for the involvement of epigenetics. Neuron. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.01.012
- Denk F, Huang W, Sidders B, Bithell A, Crow M, Grist J et al (2013) HDAC inhibitors attenuate the development of hypersensitivity in models of neuropathic pain. Pain. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pain.2013.05.021
- Dias BG, Maddox SA, Klengel T, Ressler KJ (2015) Epigenetic mechanisms underlying learning and the inheritance of learned behaviors. Trends Neurosci. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2014. 12.003

- Dickson DA, Paulus JK, Mensah V, Lem J, Saavedra-Rodriguez L, Gentry A et al (2018) Reduced levels of miRNAs 449 and 34 in sperm of mice and men exposed to early life stress. Transl Psychiatry 8:101. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-018-0146-2
- Dishion TJ (2016) Social influences on executive functions development in children and adolescents: steps toward a social neuroscience of predictive adaptive responses. J Abnorm Child Psychol 44:57–61. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10802-015-0117-5
- Do DP, Roux AVD, Hajat A, Auchincloss AH, Merkin SS, Ranjit N et al (2011) Circadian rhythm of cortisol and neighborhood characteristics in a population-based sample: the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. Health Place 17(2):625–632
- Dupierrix E, de Boisferon AH, Méary D, Lee K, Quinn PC, Di Giorgio E et al (2014) Preference for human eyes in human infants. J Exp Child Psychol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2013.12.010
- Eckert MJ, Abraham WC (2010) Physiological effects of enriched environment exposure and LTP induction in the hippocampus in vivo do not transfer faithfully to in vitro slices. Learn Mem 17:480–484. https://doi.org/10.1101/lm.1822610
- Edgar RD, Jones MJ, Meaney MJ, Turecki G, Kobor MS (2017) BECon: a tool for interpreting DNA methylation findings from blood in the context of brain. Transl Psychiatry 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2017.171
- Ehrlich I, Malinow R (2004) Cellular/molecular postsynaptic density 95 controls AMPA receptor incorporation during long-term potentiation and experience-driven synaptic plasticity. J Neurosci 24(4):916–927. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4733-03.2004
- Eisenberger NI, Lieberman MD (2004) Why rejection hurts: a common neural alarm system for physical and social pain. Trends Cogn Sci. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2004.05.010
- Engel M, Eggert C, Kaplick PM, Eder M, Röh S, Tietze L et al (2018) The role of m6A/m-RNA methylation in stress response regulation. Neuron. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2018.07. 009
- Esposito EA, Jones MJ, Doom JR, Macisaac JL, Gunnar MR, Kobor MS (2016) Differential DNA methylation in peripheral blood mononuclear cells in adolescents exposed to significant early but not later childhood adversity. Dev Psychopathol 28:1385–1399. https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0954579416000055
- Essex MJ, Boyce WT, Hertzman C, Lam LL, Armstrong JM, Neumann SMA, Kobor MS (2013) Epigenetic vestiges of early developmental adversity: childhood stress exposure and DNA methylation in adolescence. Child Dev 84(1):58–75. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624. 2011.01641.x
- Farah MJ, Betancourt L, Shera DM, Savage JH, Giannetta JM, Brodsky NL et al (2008) Environmental stimulation, parental nurturance and cognitive development in humans. Dev Sci 11 (5):793–801. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2008.00688.x
- Felice D, O'Leary OF, Cryan JF (2016) Targeting the GABAB receptor for the treatment of depression and anxiety disorders. In: GABAB receptor. Humana Press, Cham, pp 219–250
- Feng J, Zhou Y, Campbell SL, Le T, Li E, Sweatt JD et al (2010) Dnmt1 and Dnmt3a are required for the maintenance of DNA methylation and synaptic function in adult forebrain neurons. Nat Neurosci 13(4):423–430. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2514
- Fernald A (1992) Human maternal vocalizations to infants as biologically relevant signals: an evolutionary perspective. In: Barkow JH, Cosmides L, Tooby J (eds) The adapted mind: evolutionary psychology and the generation of culture. Oxford University Press, New York, pp 391–428
- Fiete IR, Senn W, Wang CZH, Hahnloser RHR (2010) Spike-time-dependent plasticity and heterosynaptic competition organize networks to produce long scale-free sequences of neural activity. Neuron 65(4):563–576. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2010.02.003
- Finn AK, Whistler JL (2001) Endocytosis of the mu opioid receptor reduces tolerance and a cellular hallmark of opiate withdrawal. Neuron. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(01)00517-7
- Fiorito G, Polidoro S, Dugué P-A, Kivimaki M, Ponzi E, Matullo G et al (2017) Social adversity and epigenetic aging: a multi-cohort study on socioeconomic differences in peripheral blood DNA methylation. Sci Rep 7:16266. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-16391-5

- Fischer A, Sananbenesi F, Wang X, Dobbin M, Tsai LH (2007) Recovery of learning and memory is associated with chromatin remodelling. Nature 447(7141):178–182. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature05772
- Fitzsimons HL, Scott MJ (2011) Genetic modulation of Rpd3 expression impairs long-term courtship memory in drosophila. PLoS One 6(12):29171. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0029171
- Fouquereau E, Fernandez A, Mullet E, Sorum PC (2003) Stress and the urge to drink. Addict Behav. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4603(01)00276-3
- Fransquet PD, Wrigglesworth J, Woods RL, Ernst ME, Ryan J (2019) The epigenetic clock as a predictor of disease and mortality risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Clin Epigenetics 11(62). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13148-019-0656-7
- Fumagalli F, Di Pasquale L, Caffino L, Racagni G, Riva MA (2007) Repeated exposure to cocaine differently modulates BDNF mRNA and protein levels in rat striatum and prefrontal cortex. Eur J Neurosci 26(10):2756–2763. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05918.x
- Gabbianelli R, Damiani E (2018) Epigenetics and neurodegeneration: role of early-life nutrition. J Nutr Biochem. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2018.01.014
- Galvez MP, Pearl M, Yen IH (2010) Childhood obesity and the built environment. Curr Opin Pediatr 22(2):202–207
- Garg E, Chen LI, Nguyen TTT, Pokhvisneva I, Chen LM, Unternaehrer E et al (2018) The early care environment and DNA methylome variation in childhood. Dev Psychopathol 30:891–903. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579418000627
- Gassen NC, Chrousos GP, Binder EB, Zannas AS (2017) Life stress, glucocorticoid signaling, and the aging epigenome: implications for aging-related diseases. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.06.003
- Ghosh-Dastidar B, Cohen D, Hunter G, Zenk SN, Huang C, Beckman R, Dubowitz T (2014) Distance to store, food prices, and obesity in urban food deserts. Am J Prev Med. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.amepre.2014.07.005
- Giese KP, Fedorov NB, Filipkowski RK, Silva AJ (1998) Autophosphorylation at Thr 286 of the calcium-calmodulin kinase II in LTP and learning. Science 279(5352):870–873. http://science.sciencemag.org/
- Goldowitz D, Lussier AA, Boyle JK, Wong K, Lattimer SL, Dubose C et al (2014) Molecular pathways underpinning ethanol-induced neurodegeneration. Front Genet 5:1–13. https://doi. org/10.3389/fgene.2014.00203
- Gopalan S, Carja O, Fagny M, Patin E, Myrick JW, McEwen LM et al (2017) Trends in DNA methylation with age replicate across diverse human populations. Genetics 206:1659–1674. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.116.195594
- Goren CC, Sarty M, Wu PVK (1975) Visual following and pattern discrimination of face-like stimuli by newborn infants. Pediatrics 56(4):544–549. www.aappublications.org/news
- Görisch SM, Wachsmuth M, Tóth KF, Lichter P, Rippe K (2005) Histone acetylation increases chromatin accessibility. J Cell Sci 118(24):5825–5834. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.02689
- Gref A, Merid SK, Gruzieva O, Ballereau S, Becker A, Bellander T et al (2017) Genome-wide interaction analysis of air pollution exposure and childhood asthma with functional follow-up. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 195:1373–1383. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201605-1026OC
- Grier SA, Kumanyika SK (2008) The context for choice: health implications of targeted food and beverage marketing to African Americans. Am J Public Health 98(9):1616–1629
- Griñan-Ferré C, Puigoriol-Illamola D, Palomera-ávalos V, Pérez-Cáceres D, Companys-Alemany J, Camins A et al (2016) Environmental enrichment modified epigenetic mechanisms in SAMP8 mouse hippocampus by reducing oxidative stress and inflammaging and achieving neuroprotection. Front Aging Neurosci 8:1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2016.00241
- Guan Z, Giustetto M, Lomvardas S, Kim JH, Miniaci MC, Schwartz JH et al (2002) Integration of long-term-memory-related synaptic plasticity involves bidirectional regulation of gene expression and chromatin structure. Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(02)01074-7

- Guan J-S, Haggarty SJ, Giacometti E, Dannenberg J-H, Joseph N, Gao J et al (2009) HDAC2 negatively regulates memory formation and synaptic plasticity. Nature 459(7243):55–60. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature07925
- Günaydin G, Zayas V, Selcuk E, Hazan C (2012) I like you but I don't know why: objective facial resemblance to significant others influences snap judgments. J Exp Soc Psychol 48:250–353. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0028125
- Gunnar MR (2017) Social buffering of stress in development: a career perspective. Perspect Psychol Sci 12(3):355–373. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691616680612
- Gunnar M, Quevedo K (2007) The neurobiology of stress and development. Annu Rev Psychol 58:145–173. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.58.110405.085605
- Han S, Soleiman MT, Soden ME, Zweifel LS, Palmiter RD (2015) Elucidating an affective pain circuit that creates a threat memory. Cell 162:363–374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.05. 057
- Hannon E, Lunnon K, Schalkwyk L, Mill J (2015) Interindividual methylomic variation across blood, cortex, and cerebellum: implications for epigenetic studies of neurological and neuropsychiatric phenotypes. Epigenetics 10(11):1024–1032. https://doi.org/10.1080/15592294. 2015.1100786
- Harris JL, Pomeranz JL, Lobstein T, Brownell KD (2009) A crisis in the marketplace: how food marketing contributes to childhood obesity and what can be done. Annu Rev Public Health 30:211–225
- Hazan C, Shaver P (1987) Romantic love conceptualized as an attachment process. J Pers Soc Psychol 52(3):511–524. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3572722
- He Y, Yang C, Kirkmire CM, Wang ZJ (2010) Regulation of opioid tolerance by let-7 family MicroRNA targeting the opioid receptor. J Neurosci 30(30):10251–10258. https://doi.org/10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.2419-10.2010
- Hermans D, Craske MG, Mineka S, Lovibond PF (2006) Extinction in human fear conditioning. Biol Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.10.006
- Hillemacher T, Frieling H, Moskau S, Muschler MAN, Semmler A, Kornhuber J et al (2008) Global DNA methylation is influenced by smoking behaviour. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.euroneuro.2007.12.005
- Horvath S, Raj K (2018) DNA methylation-based biomarkers and the epigenetic clock theory of ageing. Nat Rev Genet 19(6):371–384. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-018-0004-3
- Horvath S, Garagnani P, Bacalini MG, Pirazzini C, Salvioli S, Gentilini D et al (2015) Accelerated epigenetic aging in Down syndrome. Aging Cell 14(3):491–495. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel. 12325
- Horvath S, Gurven M, Levine ME, Trumble BC, Kaplan H, Allayee H et al (2016) An epigenetic clock analysis of race/ethnicity, sex, and coronary heart disease. Genome Biol 17:171. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s13059-016-1030-0
- Hrvatin S, Hochbaum DR, Nagy MA, Cicconet M, Robertson K, Cheadle L et al (2018) Single-cell analysis of experience-dependent transcriptomic states in mouse visual cortex. Nat Neurosci 21 (1):120–129. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-017-0029-5
- Huang EJ, Reichardt LF (2001) Neurotrophins: roles in neuronal development and function. Annu Rev Neurosci 24:677–736. www.annualreviews.org
- Huang H, Sabari BR, Garcia BA, Allis DC, Zhao Y (2014) SnapShot: histone modifications. Cell 159:458–458.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.09.037
- Hulsebus RC (1974) Operant conditioning of infant behavior: a review. Adv Child Dev Behav 8:111–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2407(08)60494-2
- Hunter RG, Murakami G, Dewell S, Seligsohn M, Baker ME, Datson NA et al (2012) Acute stress and hippocampal histone H3 lysine 9 trimethylation, a retrotransposon silencing response. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109(43):17657–17662. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1215810109
- Husquin LT, Rotival M, Fagny M, Quach H, Zidane N, Mcewen LM et al (2018) Exploring the genetic basis of human population differences in DNA methylation and their causal impact on immune gene regulation. Genome Biol 19(222). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-018-1601-3

- Hutchinson G, Takei N, Fahy T, Gilvarry C, Hutchinson G, Takei N et al (1997) Morbid risk of schizophrenia in first-degree relatives of White and African-Caribbean patients with psychosis. Br J Psychiatry 169:776–780. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.169.6.776
- Imai S, Kikuchi R, Kusuhara H, Sugiyama Y (2013) DNA methylation and histone modification profiles of mouse organic anion transporting polypeptides. Drug Metab Dispos 41:72–78. https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.112.047969
- Ingram RE, Luxton DD (2005) Vulnerability-stress models. In: Hankin BL, Abela JRZ (eds) Development of psychopathology: a vulnerability stress perspective. Sage, Thousand Oaks, pp 32–46. https://us.corwin.com/sites/default/files/upm-binaries/5348\_Hankin\_Final\_pdf\_ Chapter\_2.pdf
- Islam SA, Goodman SJ, Macisaac JL, Obradović J, Barr RG, Boyce WT, Kobor MS (2019) Integration of DNA methylation patterns and genetic variation in human pediatric tissues help inform EWAS design and interpretation. Epigenetics Chromatin 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/ s13072-018-0245-6
- Janeway CA (2001) How the immune system works to protect the host from infection: a personal view. Proc Natl Acad Sci 98(13):7461–7468. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.131202998
- Jayaraman S, Fausey CM, Smith LB (2017) Why are faces denser in the visual experiences of younger than older infants? Dev Psychol 53(1):38–49. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0000230
- Jiang Y-H, Bressler J, Beaudet AL (2004) Epigenetics and human disease definitions and historical perspective. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet 5:479–510. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. genom.5.061903.180014
- John S, Sabo PJ, Thurman RE, Sung M-H, Biddie SC, Johnson TA et al (2011) Chromatin accessibility pre-determines glucocorticoid receptor binding patterns. Nat Genet 43 (3):264–268. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.759
- Johnson MH, Dziurawiec S, Ellis H, Morton J (1991) Newborns' preferential tracking of face-like stimuli and its subsequent decline. Cognition. https://doi.org/10.1016/0010-0277(91)90045-6
- Johnson MH, Senju A, Tomalski P (2015) The two-process theory of face processing: modifications based on two decades of data from infants and adults. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.10.009
- Jones MJ, Goodman SJ, Kobor MS (2015) DNA methylation and healthy human aging. Aging Cell 14(6):924–932. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.12349
- Jones MJ, Moore SR, Kobor MS (2018) Annual review of psychology principles and challenges of applying epigenetic epidemiology to psychology. Annu Rev Psychol 69:459–485. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-122414
- Josselyn SA (2005) What's right with my mouse model? New insights into the molecular and cellular basis of cognition from mouse models of Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome. Learn Mem 12 (2):80–83. https://doi.org/10.1101/lm.93505
- Jylhävä J, Jiang M, Foebel AD, Pedersen NL, Hägg S (2019) Can markers of biological age predict dependency in old age? Biogerontology 20:321–329. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10522-019-09795-5
- Kaliman P, Párrizas M, Lalanza JF, Camins A, Escorihuela RM, Pallàs M (2011) Neurophysiological and epigenetic effects of physical exercise on the aging process. Ageing Res Rev. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2011.05.002
- Kalkhoven E, Roelfsema JH, Teunissen H, den Boer A, Ariyurek Y, Zantema A et al (2003) Loss of CBP acetyltransferase activity by PHD finger mutations in Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome. Hum Mol Genet 12(4):441–450. https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddg039
- Kang HJ, Kim JM, Lee JY, Kim SY, Bae KY, Kim SW et al (2013) BDNF promoter methylation and suicidal behavior in depressive patients. J Affect Disord. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2013. 08.001
- Kashimoto RK, Toffoli LV, Manfredo MHF, Volpini VL, Martins-Pinge MC, Pelosi GG, Gomes MV (2016) Physical exercise affects the epigenetic programming of rat brain and modulates the adaptive response evoked by repeated restraint stress. Behav Brain Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2015.08.038

- Kavalali ET, Nelson ED, Monteggia LM, Kavalali ET, Nelson ED, Monteggia LM (2011) Role of MeCP2, DNA methylation, and HDACs in regulating synapse function. J Neurodev Disord 3:250–256. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11689-011-9078-3
- Kim VN (2005) MicroRNA biogenesis: coordinated cropping and dicing. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6:376–385. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm1644
- Kim S, Kaang B-K (2017) Epigenetic regulation and chromatin remodeling in learning and memory. Nat Publ Group 49:281. https://doi.org/10.1038/emm.2016.140
- Kim VN, Nam JW (2006) Genomics of microRNA. Trends Genet. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig. 2006.01.003
- Kirchner H, Osler ME, Krook A, Zierath JR (2013) Epigenetic flexibility in metabolic regulation: disease cause and prevention? Trends Cell Biol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2012.11.008
- Klengel T, Mehta D, Anacker C, Rex-Haffner M, Pruessner JC, Pariante CM et al (2013) Allelespecific FKBP5 DNA demethylation mediates gene-childhood trauma interactions. Nat Neurosci 16(1):33–41. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3275
- Klengel T, Pape J, Binder EB, Mehta D (2014) The role of DNA methylation in stress-related psychiatric disorders. Neuropharmacology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2014.01.013
- Koch CM, Wanger W (2011) Epigenetic-aging-signature to determine age in different tissues. Aging 3(10). www.impactaging.com
- Koob GF (1996) Drug addition: the yin and yang of hedonic homeostasis. Nature 16:893–896. https://www.cell.com/neuron/pdf/S0896-6273(00)80109-9.pdf
- Korzus E, Rosenfeld MG, Mayford M (2004) CBP histone acetyltransferase activity is a critical component of memory consolidation. Neuron. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2004.06.002
- Koshibu K, Gräff J, Beullens M, Heitz FD, Berchtold D, Russig H et al (2009) Behavioral/systems/ cognitive protein phosphatase 1 regulates the histone code for long-term memory. J Neurosci 29 (41):13079–13089. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3610-09.2009
- Kouzarides T (2007) Chromatin modifications and their function. Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cell.2007.02.005
- Kozorovitskiy Y, Gross CG, Kopil C, Battaglia L, Mcbreen M, Stranahan AM, Gould E (2005) Experience induces structural and biochemical changes in the adult primate brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci 102:17478–17482. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0508817102
- Kuzumaki N, Ikegami D, Tamura R, Hareyama N, Imai S, Narita M et al (2011) Hippocampal epigenetic modification at the brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene induced by an enriched environment. Hippocampus 21(2):127–132. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.20775
- LaGraize SC, Borzan J, Peng YB, Fuchs PN (2006) Selective regulation of pain affect following activation of the opioid anterior cingulate cortex system. Exp Neurol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. expneurol.2005.05.008
- Lam LL, Emberly E, Fraser HB, Neumann SM, Chen E, Miller GE, Kobor MS (2012) Factors underlying variable DNA methylation in a human community cohort. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 109:17253–17260. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1121249109
- Lander SS, Linder-Shacham D, Gaisler-Salomon I (2017) Differential effects of social isolation in adolescent and adult mice on behavior and cortical gene expression. Behav Brain Res. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2016.09.005
- Laumbach RJ, Kipen HM (2012) Respiratory health effects of air pollution: update on biomass smoke and traffic pollution. J Allergy Clin Immunol 129(1):3–11
- LaVeist T, Pollack K, Thorpe R, Fesahazion R, Gaskin D (2011) Place, not race: disparities dissipate in southwest Baltimore when blacks and whites live under similar conditions. Health Aff 30(10):1880–1887
- Lee JT (2012) Epigenetic regulation by long noncoding RNAs. Science 338(6113):1435–1439. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1231776
- Leleu A, Rekow D, Poncet F, Rossion B, Durand K, Schaal B, Baudouin J-Y (2019) Maternal odor shapes rapid face categorization in the 4-month-old infant brain. J Vis 18(10):787. https://doi. org/10.1167/18.10.787

- Levenson JM, Sweatt JD (2011) Epigenetic mechanisms in memory formation. Epigenet Hum Health 6:287–300. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-17426-1\_14
- Levenson JM, O'riordan KJ, Brown KD, Trinh MA, Molfese DL, David Sweatt J (2004) Regulation of histone acetylation during memory formation in the Hippocampus. J Biol Chem 279(39):40545–40559. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M402229200
- Levine A, Worrell TR, Zimnisky R, Schmauss C (2012) Early life stress triggers sustained changes in histone deacetylase expression and histone H4 modifications that alter responsiveness to adolescent antidepressant treatment. Neurobiol Dis. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2011.09.005
- Li H, Zhong X, Fongching Chau K, Cunningham Williams E, Chang Q, Neurosci N (2012) Loss of activity-induced phosphorylation of MeCP2 enhances synaptogenesis, LTP, and spatial memory. Nat Neurosci 14(8):1001–1008. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2866
- Lienert F, Wirbelauer C, Schübeler D (2011) Identification of genetic elements that autonomously determine DNA methylation states. Nat Genet 43(11):1091. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.946
- Lillycrop KA, Burdge GC (2012) Epigenetic mechanisms linking early nutrition to long term health. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beem.2012.03.009
- Ling C, Rönn T (2014) Epigenetic adaptation to regular exercise in humans. Drug Discov Today. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2014.03.006
- Lipovich L, Dachet F, Cai J, Bagla S, Balan K, Jia H, Loeb JA (2012) Activity-dependent human brain coding/noncoding gene regulatory networks. Genetics 192(3):1133–1148. https://doi.org/ 10.1534/genetics.112.145128
- Lippmann M, Bress A, Nemeroff CB, Plotsky PM, Monteggia LM (2007) Long-term behavioural and molecular alterations associated with maternal separation in rats. Eur J Neurosci 25 (10):3091–3098. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2007.05522.x
- Liu Z, Leung D, Levine M (2019) Comparative analysis of epigenetic aging clocks from CpG characteristics to functional associations. BioRxiv 1:512483. https://doi.org/10.1101/512483
- Lubin FD, Roth TL, Sweatt JD (2008) Epigenetic regulation of BDNF gene transcription in the consolidation of fear memory. J Neurosci 28(4):10576–10586. https://doi.org/10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.1786-08.2008
- Luthar SS (2003) Resilience and vulnerability: adaptation in the context of childhood adversities. Cambridge University Press, New York
- Lutz PE, Turecki G (2014) DNA methylation and childhood maltreatment: from animal models to human studies. Neuroscience. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013.07.069
- Luyten LJ, Saenen ND, Janssen BG, Vrijens K, Plusquin M, Roels HA et al (2018) Air pollution and the fetal origin of disease: a systematic review of the molecular signatures of air pollution exposure in human placenta. Environ Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.03.025
- Macrì S, Laviola G, Leussis MP, Andersen SL (2010) Abnormal behavioral and neurotrophic development in the younger sibling receiving less maternal care in a communal nursing paradigm in rats. Psychoneuroendocrinology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.07.016
- Mahan AL, Mou L, Shah N, Hu J-H, Worley PF, Ressler KJ (2012) Epigenetic modulation of Homer1a transcription regulation in amygdala and hippocampus with pavlovian fear conditioning. J Neurosci 32(13):4651–4659. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3308-11.2012
- Mahnke AH, Miranda RC, Homanics GE (2017) Epigenetic mediators and consequences of excessive alcohol consumption. Alcohol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcohol.2017.02.357
- Mair C, Roux AVD, Galea S (2008) Are neighborhood characteristics associated with depressive symptoms? A critical review. J Epidemiol Community Health 62(11):940–946
- Malenka RC, Bear MF (2004) LTP and LTD: an embarrassment of riches. Neuron. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neuron.2004.09.012
- Malenka RC, Nicoll RA (1999) Long-term potentiation a decade of progress? Science 285 (5435):1870–1874. http://science.sciencemag.org/
- Malenka RC, Kauer JA, Perkel DJ, Mauk MD, Kelly PT, Nicoll RA, Waxham MN (1989) An essential role for postsynaptic calmodulin and protein kinase activity in long-term potentiation. Nature 340(6234):554–557. https://www.nature.com/articles/340554a0.pdf

- Malik AN, Vierbuchen T, Hemberg M, Rubin AA, Ling E, Couch CH et al (2014) Genome-wide identification and characterization of functional neuronal activity-dependent enhancers. Nat Neurosci 17(10):1330–1339. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3808
- Maloney R, Stilling RM, Dinan TG, Cryan JF (2015) Early-life stress-induced visceral hypersensitivity and anxiety behavior is reversed by histone deacetylase inhibition. Neurogastroenterol Motil 27:1831–1836
- Mandy M, Nyirenda M (2018) Developmental origins of health and disease: the relevance to developing nations. Int Health 10:66–70. https://doi.org/10.1093/inthealth/ihy006
- March D, Hatch SL, Morgan C, Kirkbride JB, Bresnahan M, Fearon P, Susser E (2008) Psychosis and place. Epidemiol Rev 30:84–100. https://doi.org/10.1093/epirev/mxn006
- Marioni RE, Shah S, Mcrae AF, Ritchie SJ, Muniz-Terrera G, Harris SE et al (2015) The epigenetic clock is correlated with physical and cognitive fitness in the Lothian Birth Cohort 1936. Int J Epidemiol 44(4):1388–1396. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyu277
- Martin E (2008) A dictionary of biology, 6th edn. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Marzi SJ, Sugden K, Arseneault L, Belsky DW, Burrage J, Corcoran DL et al (2018) Analysis of DNA methylation in young people: limited evidence for an association between victimization stress and epigenetic variation in blood. Am J Psychiatr 175:517–529. https://doi.org/10.1176/ appi.ajp.2017.17060693
- Masataka N (1998) Perception of motherese in Japanese sign language by 6-month-old hearing infants. Dev Psychol 34(2):241
- Matas E, Bock J, Braun K (2016) The impact of parent-infant interaction on epigenetic plasticity mediating synaptic adaptations in the infant brain. Psychopathology 49(4):201–210
- Mathers JC (2006) Nutritional modulation of ageing: genomic and epigenetic approaches. Mech Ageing Dev. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mad.2006.01.018
- Matthews KA, Gallo LC (2011) Psychological perspectives on pathways linking socioeconomic status and physical health. Annu Rev Psychol 62:501–530. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev. psych.031809.130711
- Matthews KA, Gallo LC, Taylor SE (2010) Are psychosocial factors mediators of socioeconomic status and health connections? Ann N Y Acad Sci 186(1):146–173
- Maud C, Ryan J, Mcintosh JE, Olsson CA (2018) The role of oxytocin receptor gene (OXTR) DNA methylation (DNAm) in human social and emotional functioning: a systematic narrative review. BMC Psychiatry 18(154). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-018-1740-9
- McCartney DL, Stevenson AJ, Hillary RF, Walker RM, Bermingham ML, Morris SW et al (2018) Epigenetic signatures of starting and stopping smoking. EBioMedicine. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.ebiom.2018.10.051
- McCrory C, Fiorito G, Ni Cheallaigh C, Polidoro S, Karisola P, Alenius H et al (2019) How does socio-economic position (SEP) get biologically embedded? A comparison of allostatic load and the epigenetic clock(s). Psychoneuroendocrinology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019. 02.018
- Mcdade TW, Ryan C, Jones MJ, Macisaac JL, Morin AM, Meyer JM et al (2017) Social and physical environments early in development predict DNA methylation of inflammatory genes in young adulthood. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 14(29):7611–7618. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1620661114
- Mcdade TW, Ryan CP, Jones MJ, Hoke MK, Borja J, Miller GE et al (2019) Genome-wide analysis of DNA methylation in relation to socioeconomic status during development and early adulthood. Am J Phys Anthropol 169:3–11. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajpa.23800
- McEwen LM, Goodman SJ, Kobor MS, Jones MJ (2016) The DNA methylome: an interface between the environment, immunity, and ageing. In: Bueno V, Lord J, Jackson T, Lord JM (eds) The ageing immune system and health. Springer, Cham, pp 35–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-43365-3
- Mcewen LM, Morin AM, Edgar RD, Macisaac JL, Jones MJ, Dow WH et al (2017) Differential DNA methylation and lymphocyte proportions in a Costa Rican high longevity region. Epigenetics Chromatin:1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13072-017-0128-2

- Mcgowan PO, Sasaki A, D'alessio AC, Dymov S, Labonté B, Szyf M et al (2009) Epigenetic regulation of the glucocorticoid receptor in human brain associates with childhood abuse. Nat Neurosci 12(3):342–348. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2270
- Mcgowan PO, Suderman M, Sasaki A, Huang TCT, Hallett M, Meaney MJ, Szyf M (2011) Broad epigenetic signature of maternal care in the brain of adult rats. PLoS One 6(2):e14739. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0014739
- Mclaughlin KA, Sheridan MA, Lambert HK, Mclaughlin K (2014) Childhood adversity and neural development: deprivation and threat as distinct dimensions of early experience. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 47:578–591. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.10.012
- McNally RJ (2016) The legacy of Seligman's "Phobias and Preparedness" (1971). Behav Ther. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.beth.2015.08.005
- Mcvicker G, Van De Geijn B, Degner JF, Cain CE, Banovich NE, Raj A et al (2013) Identification of genetic variants that affect histone modifications in human cells. Science 342(6159):747–749. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1242463
- Meaney MJ (2010) Epigenetics and the biological definition of gene X environment interactions. Child Dev 81(1):41–79. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2009.01381.x
- Mehta D, Klengel T, Conneely KN, Smith AK, Altmann A, Pace TW et al (2013) Childhood maltreatment is associated with distinct genomic and epigenetic profiles in posttraumatic stress disorder. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(20):8302–8307. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1217750110
- Meltzoff AN (1988) Imitation of televised models by infants. Child Dev 59(5):1221–1229. https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3651023/pdf/nihms460666.pdf
- Mercer TR, Dinger ME, Mattick JS (2009) Long non-coding RNAs: insights into functions. Nat Rev Genet 10:155–159. www.nature.com/reviews/genetics
- Merkin SS, Basurto-Dávila R, Karlamangl A, Bird CE, Lurie N, Escarce J, Seeman T (2009) Neighborhoods and cumulative biological risk profiles by race/ethnicity in a national sample of U.S. adults: NHANES III. Ann Epidemiol 19(3):194–201
- Meyer KD, Jaffrey SR (2014) The dynamic epitranscriptome: N 6-methyladenosine and gene expression control. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 15(5):313–326. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3785
- Meyer ML, Williams KD, Eisenberger NI (2015) Why social pain can live on: different neural mechanisms are associated with reliving social and physical pain. PLoS One 10(6):e0128294. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0128294
- Mikkelsen K, Stojanovska L, Polenakovic M, Bosevski M, Apostolopoulos V (2017) Exercise and mental health. Maturitas. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2017.09.003
- Milagro FI, Mansego ML, De Miguel C, Martínez JA (2013) Dietary factors, epigenetic modifications and obesity outcomes: progresses and perspectives. Mol Asp Med. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.mam.2012.06.010
- Mill J, Tang T, Kaminsky Z, Khare T, Yazdanpanah S, Bouchard L et al (2008) Epigenomic profiling reveals DNA-methylation changes associated with major psychosis. Am J Hum Genet. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2008.01.008
- Miller F, Osbahr H, Boyd E, Thomalla F, Bharwani S, Ziervogel G et al (2010) Resilience and vulnerability: complementary or conflicting concepts? Ecol Soc 15(3). https://www.jstor.org/ stable/pdf/26268184.pdf?refreqid=excelsior%3A7a21a88b6284a48d4706ccae657c4dbc
- Miller GE, Lachman ME, Chen E, Gruenewald TL, Karlamangla AS, Seeman TE (2011) Pathways to resilience: maternal nurturance as a buffer against the effects of childhood poverty on metabolic syndrome at midlife. Psychol Sci 22(12):1591–1599. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0956797611419170
- Miller GE, Yu T, Chen E, Brody GH (2015) Self-control forecasts better psychosocial outcomes but faster epigenetic aging in low-SES youth. Proc Natl Acad Sci 112(33):10325–10330. https:// doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1505063112
- Minichiello L (2009) Long-term potentiation synaptic plasticity TrkB signalling pathways in LTP and learning. Nat Rev Neurosci 10. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2738

- Miyashita T, Kubik S, Haghighi N, Steward O, Guzowski JF (2009) Rapid activation of plasticityassociated gene transcription in hippocampal neurons provides a mechanism for encoding of one-trial experience. J Neurosci 29(4):898–906. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.4588-08. 2009
- Miyatake M, Narita M, Shibasaki M, Nakamura A, Suzuki T (2005) Glutamatergic neurotransmission and protein kinase C play a role in neuron-glia communication during the development of methamphetamine-induced psychological dependence. Eur J Neurosci 22 (6):1476–1488. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2005.04325.x
- Mohai P, Lantz PM, Morenoff J, House JS, Mero RP (2009) Racial and socioeconomic disparities in residential proximity to polluting industrial facilities: evidence from the Americans' changing lives study. Am J Public Health 99(Suppl 3):S649–S656
- Moore SR (2017) Commentary: What is the case for candidate gene approaches in the era of highthroughput genomics? A response to Border and Keller (2017). J Child Psychol Psychiatry 58:331–334. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12697
- Moore SR, Depue RA (2016) Neurobehavioral foundation of environmental reactivity. Psychol Bull 142(2):107–164. https://doi.org/10.1037/bul0000028
- Moore SR, Kobor MS (2018) Variability in DNA methylation at the serotonin transporter gene promoter: epigenetic mechanism or cell-type artifact? Mol Psychiatry 1. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41380-018-0121-6
- Moore SR, Mcewen LM, Mah SM, Kobor MS (2017) Epigenetic correlates of neonatal contact in humans. Dev Psychopathol 29:1517–1538. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579417001213
- Morello-Frosch R, Zuk M, Jerrett M, Shamasunder B, Kyle AD (2011) Understanding the cumulative impacts of inequalities in environmental health: implications for policy. Health Aff 30 (5):879–887
- Morse S, Butler A, Davis R, Soller I, Lubin F (2015) Environmental enrichment reverses histone methylation changes in the aged hippocampus and restores age-related memory deficits. Biology 4(2):298–313. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology4020298
- Morton J, Johnson MH (1991) CONSPEC and CONLERN: a two-process theory of infant face recognition. Psychol Rev 98(2):164–181. https://philpapers.org/archive/MORCAC-15.pdf
- Moseley GL, Butler DS (2015) Fifteen years of explaining pain: the past, present, and future. J Pain. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpain.2015.05.005
- Moszkowski RJ, Stack DM (2007) Infant and child development infant touching behaviour during mother-infant face-to-face interactions. Infant Child Dev 16:307–319. https://doi.org/10.1002/ icd.510
- Moylan S, Eyre HA, Maes M, Baune BT, Jacka FN, Berk M (2013) Exercising the worry away: how inflammation, oxidative and nitrogen stress mediates the beneficial effect of physical activity on anxiety disorder symptoms and behaviours. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.02.003
- Mukherjee D, Ignatowska-Jankowska BM, Itskovits E, Gonzales BJ, Turm H, Izakson L et al (2018) Salient experiences are represented by unique transcriptional signatures in the mouse brain. elife 7:1–20. https://doi.org/10.7554/elife.31220
- Mustafíc H, Jabre P, Caussin C, Murad MH, Escolano S, Tafflet M et al (2012) Main air pollutants and myocardial infarction. J Am Med Assoc 307(7):713–721
- Nair A, Vadodaria K, Banerjee SB, Benekareddy M, Dias BG, Dunman RS, Vaidya VA (2007) Stressor-specific regulation of distinct brain-derived neurotrophic factor transcripts and cyclic AMP response element-binding protein expression in the postnatal and adult rat hippocampus. Neuropsychopharmacology 32(7):1504–1520. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1301276
- Navarro E, Funtikova AN, Fíto M, Schröder H (2017) Prenatal nutrition and the risk of adult obesity: long-term effects of nutrition on epigenetic mechanisms regulating gene expression. J Nutr Biochem. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2016.03.012
- Niaura R, Shadel WG, Britt DM, Abrams DB (2002) Response to social stress, urge to smoke, and smoking cessation. Addict Behav. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4603(00)00180-5

- Odell DW (2018) Epigenetics of pain mediators. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 31(4):402–406. https:// doi.org/10.1097/ACO.00000000000613
- Ohman A, Mineka S (2001) Fears, phobias, and preparedness: toward an evolved module of fear and fear learning. Psychol Rev 108(3):483–522. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.108.3.483
- Oliveira AMM, Wood MA, Mcdonough CB, Abel T (2007) Transgenic mice expressing an inhibitory truncated form of p300 exhibit long-term memory deficits. Learn Mem 14:564–572. https://doi.org/10.1101/lm.656907
- Ong M-L, Tuan TA, Poh J, Teh AL, Chen L, Pan H et al (2019) Neonatal amygdalae and hippocampi are influenced by genotype and prenatal environment, and reflected in the neonatal DNA methylome. Genes Brain Behav:e12576. https://doi.org/10.1111/gbb.12576
- Ostlund BD, Conradt E, Crowell SE, Tyrka AR, Marsit CJ, Lester BM (2016) Prenatal stress, fearfulness, and the epigenome: exploratory analysis of sex differences in DNA methylation of the glucocorticoid receptor gene. Front Behav Neurosci 10:1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh. 2016.00147
- Ozbay F, Johnson DC, Dimoulas E, Morgan CA, Charney D, Southwick S (2007) Social support and resilience to stress: from neurobiology to clinical practice. Psychiatry 4(5):35
- Ozbay F, Fitterling H, Charney D, Southwick S (2008) Social support and resilience to stress across the life span: a neurobiologic framework. Curr Psychiatry Rep 10(4):304
- Paczkowski MM, Galea S (2010) Sociodemographic characteristics of the neighborhood and depressive symptoms. Curr Opin Psychiatry 23(4):337–341
- Pang KKL, Sharma M, Sajikumar S (2019) Epigenetics and memory: emerging role of histone lysine methyltransferase G9a/GLP complex as bidirectional regulator of synaptic plasticity. Neurobiol Learn Mem. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nlm.2019.01.013
- Papini MR (2009) Role of opioid receptors in incentive contrast publication date. Int J Comp Psychol 22(3). https://escholarship.org/uc/item/0zk5h8n2
- Papini MR, Fuchs PN, Torres C (2015) Behavioral neuroscience of psychological pain. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.11.012
- Park H, Poo M-M (2013) Neurotrophin regulation of neural circuit development and function. Nat Rev Neurosci 14(7). https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3379
- Peixoto L, Abel T (2012) The role of histone acetylation in memory formation and cognitive impairments. Neuropsychopharmacology 38:62–76. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2012.86
- Perry BD (2002) Childhood experience and the expression of genetic potential: what childhood neglect tells us about nature and nurture. Brain Mind 3. https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10. 1023/A:1016557824657.pdf
- Pickett KE, Pearl M (2001) Multilevel analyses of neighbourhood socioeconomic context and health outcomes: a critical review. J Epidemiol Community Health 55(2):111–122
- Pietromonaco PR, Feldman L, Boston College B, Feldman Barrett L (2000) The internal working models concept: what do we really know about the self in relation to others? Rev Gen Psychol 4 (2):155–175. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.4.2.155
- Pietromonaco PR, Feldman L, College BB, Powers SI, Snyder IDK, Simpson JA, Hughes JN (2006) Adult attachment theory and affective reactivity and regulation. In: Snyder DK, Simpson JA, Hughes JN (eds) Emotion regulation in couples and families: pathways to dysfunction and health. American Psychological Association, Washington, pp 57–74. https://www.researchgate. net/profile/Sally\_Powers/publication/41528849\_Adult\_attachment\_theory\_and\_affective\_reac tivity\_and\_regulation/links/02e7e524a04d18cb66000000/Adult-attachment-theory-and-affec tive-reactivity-and-regulation.pdf
- Pietrornonaco PR, Barrett LF (2000) Attachment theory as an organizing framework: a view from different levels of analysis. Rev Gen Psychol 4(2):107–110. https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680. 4.2.107
- Ponomarev I, Stelly CE, Morikawa H, Blednov YA, Mayfield RD, Harris RA (2017) Mechanistic insights into epigenetic modulation of ethanol consumption. Alcohol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. alcohol.2017.01.016

- Poo M, Pignatelli M, Ryan TJ, Tonegawa S, Bonhoeffer T, Martin KC et al (2016) What is memory? The present state of the engram. BMC Biol 14(1):40. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12915-016-0261-6
- Porges S (2011) The polyvagal theory: neurophysiological foundations of emotions, attachment, communication, and self-regulation. Norton, New York
- Proag V (2014) The concept of vulnerability and resilience. Procedia Econ Financ. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/s2212-5671(14)00952-6
- Probst AV, Dunleavy E, Almouzni G (2009) Epigenetic inheritance during the cell cycle. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10:192–206. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm2640
- Qi F, Zhou Y, Xiao Y, Tao J, Gu J, Jiang X, Xu GY (2013) Promoter demethylation of cystathionine-β-synthetase gene contributes to inflammatory pain in rats. Pain. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.pain.2012.07.031
- Ramírez-Rodríguez G, Ocaña-Fernández MA, Vega-Rivera NM, Torres-Pérez OM, Gómez-Sánchez A, Estrada-Camarena E, Ortiz-López L (2014) Environmental enrichment induces neuroplastic changes in middle age female BalbC mice and increases the hippocampal levels of BDNF, p-Akt and p-MAPK1/2. Neuroscience. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2013. 12.026
- Randic M, Jiang MC, Cerne R (1993) Long-term potentiation and long-term depression of primary afferent neurotransmission in the rat spinal cord. J Neurosci 13. http://www.jneurosci.org/ content/jneuro/13/12/5228.full.pdf
- Reid VM, Dunn K, Young RJ, Amu J, Donovan T, Reissland N (2017) The human fetus preferentially engages with face-like visual stimuli. Curr Biol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub. 2017.05.044
- Repetti R, Taylor S, Seeman TE (2014) Risky families: family social environments and the mental and physical health of offspring. Psychol Bull 128(2):330–366. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.128.2.230
- Rial Verde EM, Lee-Osbourne J, Worley PFF, Malinow R, Cline HTT (2006) Increased expression of the immediate-early gene arc/Arg3.1 reduces AMPA receptor-mediated synaptic transmission. Neuron. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.09.031
- Rider CF, Yamamoto M, Günther OP, Hirota JA, Singh A, Tebbutt SJ, Carlsten C (2016) Controlled diesel exhaust and allergen coexposure modulates microRNA and gene expression in humans: effects on inflammatory lung markers. J Allergy Clin Immunol. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jaci.2016.02.038
- Roberts AL, Gladish N, Gatev E, Jones MJ, Chen Y, Macisaac JL et al (2018) Exposure to childhood abuse is associated with human sperm DNA methylation. Transl Psychiatry 8:194. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-018-0252-1
- Rodrigues GM, Toffoli LV, Manfredo MH, Francis-Oliveira J, Silva AS, Raquel HA et al (2015) Acute stress affects the global DNA methylation profile in rat brain: modulation by physical exercise. Behav Brain Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.11.023
- Rosenzweig MJ, Renner MR (1986) Social interactions among rats housed in grouped and enriched conditions. Dev Psychobiol 19(4):303–313
- Roth TL, Sweatt JD (2011a) Annual research review: epigenetic mechanisms and environmental shaping of the brain during sensitive periods of development. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 52 (4):398–408. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02282.x
- Roth TL, Sweatt JD (2011b) Epigenetic marking of the BDNF gene by early-life adverse experiences. Horm Behav. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2010.05.005
- Roth TL, Lubin FD, Funk AJ, Sweatt JD (2009) Lasting epigenetic influence of early-life adversity on the BDNF gene. Biol Psychiatry 65(9):760–769. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. biopsych.2008.11.028
- Roth TL, Zoladz PR, Sweatt JD, Diamond DM (2011) Epigenetic modification of hippocampal Bdnf DNA in adult rats in an animal model of post-traumatic stress disorder. J Psychiatr Res. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2011.01.013
- Roux AVD, Mair C (2010) Neighborhoods and health. Ann N Y Acad Sci 186(1):125-145

- Rutering J, Ilmer M, Recio A, Coleman M, Vykoukal J, Alt E, Orleans N (2016) Traumatic stress and accelerated DNA methylation age: a meta-analysis. Nat Rev Drug Discov 5(6):1–8. https:// doi.org/10.4172/2157-7633.1000305.Improved
- Rye M, Sandve GK, Daub CO, Kawaji H, Carninci P, Forrest A, Drabløs F (2014) Chromatin states reveal functional associations for globally defined transcription start sites in four human cell lines. BMC Genomics 15:120. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-15-120
- Saletore Y, Meyer K, Korlach J, Vilfan ID, Jaffrey S, Mason CE (2012) The birth of the epitranscriptome: deciphering the function of RNA modifications. Genome Biol 13(175). https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2012-13-10-175
- Sallis JF, Glanz K (2006) The role of built environments in physical activity, eating, and obesity in childhood. Future Child 16(1):89–108
- Sandkühler J, Gruber-Schoffnegger D (2012) Hyperalgesia by synaptic long-term potentiation (LTP): an update. Curr Opin Pharmacol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coph.2011.10.018
- Saul MC, Seward CH, Troy JM, Zhang H, Sloofman LG, Lu X et al (2017) Transcriptional regulatory dynamics drive coordinated metabolic and neural response to social challenge in mice. Genome Res 27(6):959–972. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.214221.116
- Sayette MA (2017) The effects of alcohol on emotion in social drinkers. Behav Res Ther. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.brat.2016.06.005
- Schaefer A, Sampath SC, Intrator A, Min A, Gertler TS, Surmeier DJ et al (2009) Control of cognition and adaptive behavior by the GLP/G9a epigenetic suppressor complex. Neuron. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2009.11.019
- Schwartz S (2016) Cracking the epitranscriptome. RNA 22:169–174. https://doi.org/10.1261/rna. 054502.115
- Schwarz JM, Hutchinson MR, Bilbo SD (2011) Early-life experience decreases drug-induced reinstatement of morphine CPP in adulthood via microglial-specific epigenetic programming of anti-inflammatory IL-10 expression. J Neurosci 32(49):17835–17847. https://doi.org/10. 1523/JNEUROSCI.3297-11.2011
- Selten J-P (2005) Schizophrenia and migration: a meta-analysis and review. Am J Psychiatr 162:12–24. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.162.1.12
- Sen P, Shah PP, Nativio R, Berger SL (2016) Epigenetic mechanisms of longevity and aging. Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.07.050
- Seo MK, Ly NN, Lee CH, Cho HY, Choi CM, Nhu LH et al (2016) Early life stress increases stress vulnerability through BDNF gene epigenetic changes in the rat hippocampus. Neuropharmacology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropharm.2016.02.009
- Shahbazian MD, Grunstein M (2007) Functions of site-specific histone acetylation and deacetylation. Annu Rev Biochem 76:75–100. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.76. 052705.162114
- Shahbazian MD, Young JI, Yuva-Paylor LA, Spencer CM, Antalffy BA, Noebels JL et al (2002) Mice with truncated MeCP2 recapitulate many Rett syndrome features and display hyperacetylation of histone H3. Neuron. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(02)00768-7
- Sharma M, Sajikumar S (2018) G9a/GLP complex acts as a bidirectional switch to regulate metabotropic glutamate receptor-dependent plasticity in hippocampal CA1 pyramidal neurons. Cereb Cortex:1–15. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhy161
- Shen X, Dong Y, Xu Z, Wang H, Miao C, Soriano SG et al (2013) Selective anesthesia-induced Neuroinflammation in developing mouse brain and cognitive impairment. Anesthesiology 118:502–515. www.anesthesiology.org
- Shih J, May LDV, Gonzalez HE, Lee EW, Alvi RS, Sall JW et al (2012) Delayed environmental enrichment reverses sevoflurane-induced memory impairment in rats. Anesthesiology 116:586–602. www.anesthesiology.org
- Shpigler HY, Saul MC, Murdoch EE, Cash-Ahmed AC, Seward CH, Sloofman L et al (2017) Behavioral, transcriptomic and epigenetic responses to social challenge in honey bees. Genes Brain Behav 16:579–591. https://doi.org/10.1111/gbb.12379

- Simons LE, Elman I, Borsook D (2014) Psychological processing in chronic pain: a neural systems approach. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.12.006
- Simons RL, Lei MK, Beach SRH, Philibert RA, Cutrona CE, Gibbons FX, Barr A (2016) Economic hardship and biological weathering: the epigenetics of aging in a U.S. sample of black women. Soc Sci Med 150:192–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.12.001
- Skene PJ, Illingworth RS, Webb S, Kerr ARW, James KD, Turner DJ et al (2010) Neuronal MeCP2 is expressed at near histone-octamer levels and globally alters the chromatin state. Mol Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molcel.2010.01.030
- Somineni HK, Zhang X, Biagini Myers JM, Kovacic MB, Ulm A, Jurcak N et al (2016) Ten-eleven translocation 1 (TET1) methylation is associated with childhood asthma and traffic-related air pollution. J Allergy Clin Immunol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2015.10.021
- Song Y, Ren H, Pei-Yuan Z (2017) Collaborations between CpG sites in DNA methylation. DNAMethy Int J Mod Phys B 6(7). https://doi.org/10.1101/149815
- Stefanelli G, Azam AB, Walters BJ, Brimble MA, Gettens CP, Bouchard-Cannon P et al (2018) Learning and age-related changes in genome-wide H2A.Z binding in the mouse hippocampus. Cell Rep. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.01.020
- Suderman M, Borghol N, Pappas JJ, Pinto Pereira SM, Pembrey M, Hertzman C et al (2014) Childhood abuse is associated with methylation of multiple loci in adult DNA. BMC Med Genet 7(13):1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1755-8794-7-13
- Suzuki K (2018) The developing world of DOHaD. J Dev Orig Health Dis 9(3):266–269. https:// doi.org/10.1017/S2040174417000691
- Swain JE, Lorberbaum JP, Kose S, Strathearn L (2007) Brain basis of early parent-infant interactions: psychology, physiology, and in vivo functional neuroimaging studies. J Child Psychol Psychiatry 48(3–4):262–287. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01731.x
- Sweeting H, Hunt K (2015) Adolescent socioeconomic and school-based social status, smoking, and drinking. J Adolesc Health. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2015.03.020
- Tajerian M, Alvarado S, Millecamps M, Vachon P, Crosby C (2013) Peripheral nerve injury is associated with chronic, reversible changes in global DNA methylation in the mouse prefrontal cortex. PLoS One 8(1):55259. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0055259
- Takei N, Inamura N, Kawamura M, Namba H, Hara K, Yonezawa K, Nawa H (2004) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor induces mammalian target of rapamycin-dependent local activation of translation machinery and protein synthesis in neuronal dendrites. J Neurosci 24 (44):9760–9769. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1427-04.2004
- Talge NM, Neal C, Glover V (2007) Antenatal maternal stress and long-term effects on child neurodevelopment: how and why? J Child Psychol Psychiatry Allied Discip 48(3–4):245–261. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2006.01714.x
- Tehranifar P, Wu H-C, Fan X, Flom JD, Ferris JS, Cho H et al (2013) Early life socioeconomic factors and genomic DNA methylation in mid-life. Epigenetics 8(1):23–27. https://doi.org/10. 4161/epi.22989
- Tessarz P, Kouzarides T (2014) Histone core modifications regulating nucleosome structure and dynamics. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3890
- Thompson R (2000) The legacy of early attachments. Child Dev 71(1):145–152. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/1467-8624.00128
- Thompson LA, Fagan JF, Fulker DW (1991) Longitudinal prediction of specific cognitive abilities from infant novelty preference. Child Dev 62(3):530–538. https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/ 1131128.pdf?casa\_token=8L-b\_hycWOsAAAAA:epxElbY04JVtj-SYzGfR68HzIsPSZq13\_ bsbc9YTP\_X21WbYEqMc\_aBNG-sm5jJyIVD3jNAQ-uHI\_ Ha2IpxOIoscAru03I3XSFc7AS5VPLwsIQtigw
- Trehub SE, Trainor LJ, Unyk AM (1993) Music and speech processing in the first year of life. Adv Child Dev Behav. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2407(08)60298-0
- Troisi A, Frazzetto G, Carola V, Lorenzo GD (2011) Social neuroscience social headonic capacity is associated with the A118G polymorphism of the mu-opioid receptor gene (OPRM1) in adult

healthy volunteers and psychiatric patients. Soc Neurosci 6(1):88–97. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 17470919.2010.482786

- Tulisiak CT, Harris RA, Ponomarev I (2017) DNA modifications in models of alcohol use disorders. Alcohol. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.alcohol.2016.11.004
- Turati C, Simion F, Milani I, Umiltà C (2002) Newborns' preference for faces: what is crucial? Dev Psychol 38(6):875–882. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.38.6.875
- Turecki G, Meaney MJ (2016) Effects of the social environment and stress on glucocorticoid receptor gene methylation: a systematic review. Biol Psychiatry 79:87–96. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biopsych.2014.11.022
- Turinsky AL, Butcher DT, Choufani S, Weksberg R, Brudno M (2019) Don't brush off buccal data heterogeneity. Epigenetics 14(2):109–117. https://doi.org/10.1080/15592294.2019.1581592
- Tyssowski KM, DeStefino NR, Cho JH, Dunn CJ, Poston RG, Carty CE et al (2018) Different neuronal activity patterns induce different gene expression programs. Neuron. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.neuron.2018.04.001
- Tzivian L (2011) Outdoor air pollution and asthma in children. J Asthma 48(5):470-481
- Van Oers JAM, Bongers IMB, Van de Goor LAM, Garretsen HFL (1999) Alcohol consumption, and alcohol-related problems, problem drinking, and socioeconomic status. Alcohol Alcohol 34 (1):78–88. https://watermark.silverchair.com/78.pdf?token=AQECAHi208BE49Ooan9kkhW\_ Ercy7Dm3ZL\_

9Cf3qfKAc485ysgAAAmIwggJeBgkqhkiG9w0BBwagggJPMIICSwIBADCCAkQGCSqGSI b3DQEHATAeBglghkgBZQMEAS4wEQQMJi-

xPZN5VN26EWO3AgEQgIICFZilbhfvErPOA6vDopqm\_HGA89b5lPjiUY5\_ VRqhxgB4Cp6gj879

- Van Os J, Kenis G, Rutten BPF (2010) The environment and schizophrenia. Nature 468(7321):203. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09563
- Wadhwa PD, Buss C, Entringer S, Swanson JM (2009) Developmental origins of health and disease: brief history of the approach and current focus on epigenetic mechanisms. Semin Reprod Med 27(5):358–368. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0029-1237424
- Wagner W (2017) Epigenetic aging clocks in mice and men. Genome Biol 18(107). https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13059-017-1203-5
- Wagner M, Essica Steinbacher J, Kraus TFJ, Michalakis S, Pfaffeneder T, Perera A et al (2015) Age-dependent levels of 5-methyl-, 5-hydroxymethyl-, and 5-formylcytosine in human and mouse brain tissues. Angew Chem 54:12511–12514. https://doi.org/10.1002/ange.201502722
- Wang J, Weaver ICG, Gauthier-Fisher A, Wang H, He L, Yeomans J et al (2010) CBP histone acetyltransferase activity regulates embryonic neural differentiation in the normal and Rubinstein-Taybi syndrome brain. Dev Cell. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2009.10.023
- Weaver ICG, Cervoni N, Champagne FA, D'alessio AC, Sharma S, Seckl JR et al (2004) Epigenetic programming by maternal behavior. Nat Neurosci 7(8). https://doi.org/10.1038/ nn1276
- Weder N, Zhang H, Jensen K, Yang BZ, Simen A, Jackowski A et al (2014) Child abuse, depression, and methylation in genes involved with stress, neural plasticity, and brain circuitry. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2013.12.025
- Wu J, Bie B, Naguib M (2016a) Epigenetic manipulation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor improves memory deficiency induced by neonatal anesthesia in rats. Anesthesiology 124:624–640. https://doi.org/10.1097/ALN.000000000000981
- Wu TP, Wang T, Seetin MG, Lai Y, Zhu S, Lin K et al (2016b) DNA methylation on N 6-adenine in mammalian embryonic stem cells. Nature 532(7599):329–333. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nature17640
- Yao B, Cheng Y, Wang Z, Li Y, Chen L, Huang L et al (2017) DNA N6-methyladenine is dynamically regulated in the mouse brain following environmental stress. Nat Commun 8 (1):1122. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-01195-y

- Younger ST, Corey DR (2011) Transcriptional gene silencing in mammalian cells by miRNA mimics that target gene promoters. Nucleic Acids Res 39(13):5682–5691. https://doi.org/10. 1093/nar/gkr155
- Yousefi P, Huen K, Davé V, Barcellos L, Eskenazi B, Holland N (2015) Sex differences in DNA methylation assessed by 450 K BeadChip in newborns. BMC Genomics 16(911). https://doi. org/10.1186/s12864-015-2034-y
- Zammit S, Lewis G, Gustafsson J-E (2010) Individuals, schools, and neighborhood: a multilevel longitudinal study of variation in incidence of psychotic disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry 67:914–922. https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2010.101
- Zannas AS, Arloth J, Carrillo-Roa T, Iurato S, Röh S, Ressler KJ et al (2015a) Lifetime stress accelerates epigenetic aging in an urban, African American cohort: relevance of glucocorticoid signaling. Genome Biol 16(266). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-015-0828-5
- Zannas AS, Provençal N, Binder EB (2015b) Epigenetics of posttraumatic stress disorder: current evidence, challenges, and future directions. Biol Psychiatry. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych. 2015.04.003
- Zayas V, Hazan C (2015) Bases of adult attachment: linking brain, mind and behavior. Springer, New York, pp 1–196. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-9622-9
- Zayas V, Shoda Y (2005) Do automatic reactions elicited by thoughts of romantic partner, mother, and self relate to adult romantic attachment? Personal Soc Psychol Bull 31(8):1011–1025. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167204274100
- Zayas V, Shoda Y (2015) Love you? Hate you? Maybe it's both: evidence that significant others trigger bivalent-priming. Soc Psychol Personal Sci 65(1):56–64. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1948550614541297
- Zayas V, Shoda Y, Mischel W, Osterhout L, Takahashi M (2009) Neural responses to partner rejection cues. Psychol Sci 20(7):813–821. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j. 1467-9280.2009.02373.x
- Zayas V, Mischel W, Shoda Y, Aber JL (2011) Roots of adult attachment: maternal caregiving at 18 months predicts adult peer and partner attachment. Soc Psychol Personal Sci 2(3):289–297. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550610389822
- Zhang N (2015) Epigenetic modulation of DNA methylation by nutrition and its mechanisms in animals. Anim Nutr. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2015.09.002
- Zhao J, Lee M-C, Momin A, Cendan C-M, Shepherd ST, Baker MD et al (2010) Small RNAs control sodium channel expression, nociceptor excitability, and pain thresholds. J Neurosci 30 (32):10860–10871. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1980-10.2010
- Zheleznyakova GY, Cao H, Schiöth HB (2016) BDNF DNA methylation changes as a biomarker of psychiatric disorders: literature review and open access database analysis. Behav Brain Funct 12:17. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12993-016-0101-4
- Zheng Y-C, Ma J, Wang Z, Li J, Jiang B, Zhou W et al (2015) A systematic review of histone lysine-specific demethylase 1 and its inhibitors. Med Res Rev 35(5):1032–1071. https://doi.org/ 10.1002/med.21350
- Zhou X-L, Yu L-N, Wang Y, Tang L-H, Peng Y-N, Cao J-L, Yan M (2014) Increased methylation of the MOR gene proximal promoter in primary sensory neurons plays a crucial role in the decreased analgesic effect of opioids in neuropathic pain. Mol Pain 10:51–65. https://doi.org/10. 1186/1744-8069-10-51
- Ziller MJ, Gu H, Müller F, Donaghey J, Tsai LT-Y, Kohlbacher O et al (2013) Charting a dynamic DNA methylation landscape of the human genome. Nature 500(7463):477–481. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature12433
- Zimmer P, Schenk A, Bloch W (2016) Epigenetics in exercise science and sports medicine. In: Medical epigenetics. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803239-8.00029-6
- Zimmerberg B, Foote HE, Van Kempen TA (2009) Olfactory association learning and brainderived neurotrophic factor in an animal model of early deprivation. Dev Psychobiol 51 (4):333–344. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.20373